MEETING WILL BE LIVE STREAMED ON YOUTUBE: Page County, Virginia- YouTube

AGENDA
Page County Planning Commission
Work Session
Board of Supervisors Room- County Government Center
103 South Court Street, Luray, VA 22835
February 17, 2022- 7:00 p.m.
_____________________________________________________________________________

Call to Order
A. Pledge of Allegiance
B. Moment of Silence
C. Microphone Reminder
D. Attendance Roll Call
Adoption of Agenda
New Business
None

Unfinished Business
A. Adoption of Minutes- December 7, 2021, December 14, 2021 & January 11, 2022
B. Johnathan Martinez- Special Use Permit Application
C. Roger Aaron Bogner- Special Use Permit Application
D. Cape Solar, LLC- Special Use Permit Application
E. Review draft of Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance- Proposed Zoning Districts
Adjourn

MINUTES
PAGE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION & BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
December 7, 2021
Members Present
Catherine Grech, District 1
Jared Burner, Chairman, District 3
William Turner, Secretary, District 5

Donnie Middleton, District 2
Isaac Smelser, District 4

Members Absent
Steve Atkins, District 2

Keith Weakley, Vice Chairman, District 3

Staff Present
Tracy Clatterbuck

Kelly Butler

Call to Order
Chairman Burner called the December 7, 2021 Joint Meeting of the Page County Planning Commission and
Board of Supervisors to order in the Board of Supervisors Room located at the Page County Government
Center, 103 S Court Street, Luray, Virginia at 7:17 p.m. The meeting was live streamed via YouTube.
Joint Public Hearings
A. HighSpeedLink/Tanners Ridge Properties, LLC- Special Use Permit Application
1. Whether or not HighSpeedLink/Tanners Ridge Properties, LLC special use permit
application is in substantial accord with the Page County Comprehensive Plan pursuant
to § 15.2-2232 of the Code of Virginia, as amended.
Commission Chairman Jared Burner opened the public hearing at 7:17 p.m. for the Planning
Commission. Chairman Phenix opened the public hearing at 7:17 p.m. for the Board of Supervisors.
Tracy Clatterbuck, Zoning Administrator, reviewed that HighSpeedLink (Occupant) and Tanners Ride
Properties, LLC (Landowner) have filed an application for a special use permit to construct a new 100'
self-support tower and antennas with a 4' tall lightning rod attached to the top of the tower located on
State Route 682 (Tanners Ridge Road), Stanley, VA. The parcel is identified by tax map number 100- A11A, contains 1.783 acres, and is zoned as Woodland-Conservation (W-C). The property is improved
with numerous existing towers and an existing equipment shelter. The proposed tower meets the
minimum setbacks required from all property lines.
Mrs. Clatterbuck asked the board to decide on the term of the special use permit noting that it should be
longer than 10 years. She requested the Planning Commission find this special use permit request in
compliance with § 15.2-2232 of the Code of Virginia.
Public Hearing Comments:
David Beniamino said he is the Land Use Project Manager, with Network Building and Consulting, and
offered to answer any questions from the Commission or Board.
Rod Graves expressed concern with the term for the permit. He said he does not want the permit to go
beyond 10 years, because that is the same term for the lease agreement.
The Planning Commission explained to Mr. Graves that the permit is from the County allowing the tower
and the lease agreement does not affect the permit.

Commission Chairman Jared Burner closed the Planning Commission public hearing at 7:30 p.m.
After discussion, the Planning Commission and Mr. Graves agreed on a term of 50 years for the permit.
They also asked for an interference report from both the County’s consultant and the occupant’s
consultant to ensure there is no interference with the County’s emergency services tower.
Commission Motion: Cathy Grech moved that the Page County Planning Commission recommend the
Board of Supervisors deem the application from HighSpeedLink/Tanner's Ridge Properties, LLC located
on tax map number 100-A-1 1A for a 100' self-support tower with antennas and a 4' lightning rod attached
to top of tower to be substantially in accord with the Page County Comprehensive Plan. William Turner
seconded and the motion passed by a vote of 5-0. Aye: Turner, Middleton, Grech, Smelser, Burner. Nay:
None. Absent: Atkins, Weakley.
Chairman Phenix closed the Board of Supervisors public hearing at 7:33 p.m.
Board Motion: Supervisor Guzy moved that the Page County Board of Supervisors deem the application
from HighSpeedLink/Tanner's Ridge Properties, LLC located on tax map number I00-A-11A for a 100'
self-supported tower with antennas and a 4' lightning rod attached to top of tower to be substantially in
accord with the Page County Comprehensive Plan. Supervisor Vaughan seconded and the motion
carried by a vote of 5-0. Aye: Stroupe, Vaughan, Phenix, Guzy, Louderback. Nay: None. Absent: Foltz.
2. HighSpeedLink/Tanners Ridge Properties, LLC Special Use Permit Application
Commission Chairman Jared Burner opened the public hearing on the special use permit for the
Planning Commission at 7:35 p.m. Chairman Phenix opened the public hearing on the special use
permit for the Board of Supervisors at 7:36 p.m.
Public Hearing Comments:
There were no comments from the public.
Commission Chairman Jared Burner said the Planning Commission wants a 50-year special use permit,
waive the landscaping requirement, and that the permit will not be issued until they receive the
interference report from both consultants.
Commission Chairman Jared Burner closed the public hearing for the Planning Commission at 7:36 p.m.
Commission Motion: Cathy Grech moved that the Page County Planning Commission recommend
approval to the Board of Supervisors for the special use permit application from HighSpeedLink/Tanner's
Ridge Properties, LLC located on tax map number 100-A-11A for a 100' self-support tower with antennas
and a 4' lightning rod attached to top of tower, with the attached special use permit conditions. Donnie
Middleton second and the motion carried by a vote of 5-0. Aye: Turner, Middleton, Grech, Smelser,
Burner. Nay: None. Absent: Atkins, Weakley.
Commission Chairman Jared Burner stated that the Planning Commission recommends approval of the
special use permit, with the conditions discussed.
Chairman Phenix closed the public hearing for the Board of Supervisors at 7:37 p.m.
Board Motion: Supervisor Guzy moved that the Page County Board of Supervisors approve the special
use permit application from HighSpeedLink/Tanner's Ridge Properties, LLC located on tax map number
I00-A-11A for a 100' self-support tower with antennas and a 4' lightning rod attached to top of tower, with

the attached special use permit conditions. Supervisor Stroupe seconded and the motion carried by a
vote of 5-0. Aye: Vaughan, Phenix, Guzy, Louderback, Stroupe. Nay: None. Absent: Foltz.
Special Use Permit
Occupant: HighSpeedLink
Landowner: Tanners Ridge Properties, LLC
Tax Map #: 100-A-11A
Purpose: Construction of a new 100’ self-support tower and with a 4’ tall lightning rod attached to top of tower
1. This special use permit is transferable, it will meet the requirements in and have privileges provided for in
the Page County Zoning Ordinance, and any ordinance amendments for the period set forth within the
parameters in this special use permit. The special use permit shall remain with the property for a period of
fifty (50) years.
2. Highspeedlink, or its successor and/or assigns, shall be in compliance with all County ordinances, the
Uniform Statewide Building Code, and all state and federal agency regulations.
3. The tower shall not exceed 100’ in height (excludes the 4’ lightning rod attached to the top of the monopole).
4. The minimum setbacks required for the tower are as follows: 104’ (includes tower and lightning rod) from all
property lines.
5. No antennas attached can exceed the height of the monopole tower (104’).
6. Any lighting that is provided shall be directed downwards, so as not to produce a glare into the sky or onto
adjoining properties or roads or rights-of-way.
7. All permits for land disturbance activities associated with the tower, equipment, roads, etc. must be obtained
as required by regulations.
8. Engineered stamped plans for the tower, antennas, and any other associated equipment must be in
compliance with Section 125-30.3.D.(2) of the Page County Zoning Ordinance. The engineered plans must
be submitted and approved by Page County prior to the start of construction.
9. The proposed wireless communication facilities must be adequately insured for injury and property damage
based on Section 125-30.3.D.(4) of the Page County Zoning Ordinance. Proof shall be submitted prior to
construction.
10. Screening and landscaping requirement as referenced in Section 125-30.3.G.(4) shall be waived.
11. Prior to the issuance of the building permit, the occupant must provide a detailed engineering soils report.
12. An interference report from the applicant and the County of Page shall be submitted for review prior to the
issuance of the building permit.
13. This special use permit may be revoked upon material non-compliance with the terms of the permit, or upon
violation of any other relevant terms of the Zoning Ordinance or any other ordinances of the County of Page,
Virginia. However, prior to the commencement of any action to revoke this permit, the county shall notify the
permit holder in writing of the material in non-compliance or violation, and the permit holder shall have thirty
(30) days thereafter to cure the material non-compliance or violation. The notice shall be deemed given
when hand delivered to the permit holder or when mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the
permit holder.
14. Any change of use or expansion not included in this special use permit will require and additional, new or
modified special use permit as required by the Page County Zoning Ordinance at that time.
15. The Zoning Administrator or their designated representative may visit the site at any time to ensure
compliance with the special use permit.
A. HighSpeedLink/Trustees of Betty & Virgil Cunningham- Special Use Permit Application
1. Whether or not HighSpeedLink/ Trustees of Betty & Virgil Cunningham special use
permit application is in substantial accord with the Page County Comprehensive Plan
pursuant to § 15.2-2232 of the Code of Virginia, as amended.

Commission Chairman Jared Burner opened the public hearing at 7:40 p.m. for the Planning Commission.
Chairman Phenix opened the public hearing at 7:42 p.m. for the Board of Supervisors.
Tracy Clatterbuck, Zoning Administrator, reviewed that HighSpeedLink (Occupant) and The Trustees of
Betty and Virgil Cunningham (Landowners) have filed an application for a special use permit to construct
a new 195' monopole and antennas with a 4' tall lighting rod attached to the top of the monopole located
on Mountaintop Ranch Road, Elkton, VA, and further identified by tax map 105-A-42. The parcel contains
94.81 acres and is currently zoned Agriculture (A-1). The property is currently vacant. The proposed
monopole exceeds the minimum setbacks required from all property lines.
Public Hearing Comments:
There were no public comments during the hearing.
Commission Chairman Jared Burner closed the public hearing for the Planning Commission at 7:43 p.m.
Chairman Phenix closed the public hearing for the Board of Supervisors at 7:44 p.m.
Commission Motion: Cathy Grech moved that the Page County Planning Commission recommend the
Board of Supervisors deem the application from HighSpeedLink/The Trustees of Betty and Virgil
Cunningham located on tax map number 105-A-42 for a 195' monopole tower with antennas and a 4'
lightning rod attached to top of tower to be substantially in accord with the Page County Comprehensive
Plan. Isaac Smelser seconded and the motion carried by a vote of 5-0. Aye: Turner, Middleton, Grech,
Smelser, Burner. Nay: None. Absent: Atkins, Weakley.
Board Motion: Supervisor Stroupe moved that the Page County Board of Supervisors deem the
application from HighSpeedLink/The Trustees of Betty and Virgil Cunningham located on tax map number
105-A-42 for a 195’monopole tower with antennas and a 4’lightning rod attached to top of tower to be
substantially in accord with the Page County Comprehensive Plan. Supervisor Vaughan seconded and
the motion carried by a vote of 5-0. Aye: Phenix, Guzy, Louderback, Stroupe, Vaughan. Nay: None.
Absent: Foltz.
2. HighSpeedLink/ Trustees of Betty & Virgil Cunningham Special Use Permit Application
Commission Chairman Jared Burner opened the Planning Commission public hearing on
HighSpeedLink/Trustees of Betty & Virgil Cunningham at 7:45 p.m. Chairman Phenix opened the Board
of Supervisors public hearing on HighSpeedLink/Trustees of Betty & Virgil Cunningham at 7:75 p.m.
Public Hearing Comments:
David Beniamino said he would like to address the letters. The height of the tower has been questioned
and it has to be that height to meet the needs. Instead of landscaping which is not a good idea due to the
clay soil, they will be installing a 7-foot board on board fence. He spoke with Ms. Clatterbuck on the no
reflective metal, which is in compliance.
Commission Chairman Jared Burner closed Planning Commission the public hearing at 7:50 p.m.
Chairman Phenix closed the Board of Supervisors public hearing at 7:50 p.m.
Cathy Grech suggested that the term be 50 years. The Commission was in consensus.
Commission Motion: William Turner moved that the Page County Planning Commission recommend
approval to the Board of Supervisors for the special use permit application from HighSpeedLink/The

Trustees of Betty and Virgil Cunningham located on tax map number 105-A-42 for a 195' monopole tower
with antennas and a 4' lightning rod attached to top of tower, with the attached special use permit
conditions. Isaac Smelser seconded and the motion carried by a vote of 5-0. Aye: Turner, Middleton,
Guzy, Smelser, Burner. Nay: None. Absent: Atkins, Weakley.
Board Motion: Supervisor Guzy moved that the Page County Board of Supervisors approve the special
use permit application from HighSpeedLink/The Trustees of Betty and Virgil Cunningham located on tax
map number 105-A-42 for a 195' monopole tower with antennas and a 4' lightning rod attached to top of
tower, with the attached special use permit conditions. Supervisor Louderback seconded and the motion
carried by a vote of 5-0. Aye: Guzy, Louderback, Stroupe, Vaughan, Phenix. Nay: None. Absent: Foltz.
Special Use Permit
Occupant: HighSpeedLink
Landowner: Trustees of Betty & Virgil Cunningham
Tax Map #: 105-A-42
Purpose: Construction of new 195’ monopole tower and with a 4’ tall lightning rod attached to top of tower
1. This special use permit is transferable, it will meet the requirements in and have privileges provided for in
the Page County Zoning Ordinance, and any ordinance amendments for the period set forth within the
parameters in this special use permit. The special use permit shall remain with the property for a period of
fifty (50) years.
2. Highspeedlink, or its successor and/or assigns, shall be in compliance with all county ordinances, the
Uniform Statewide Building Code, and all state and federal agency regulations.
3. The monopole shall not exceed 195’ in height (excludes the 4’ lightning rod attached to the top of the
monopole).
4. The minimum setbacks required for the monopole are as follows: 199’ (includes monopole and lightning rod)
from all property lines.
5. No antennas attached can exceed the height of the monopole tower (199’).
6. Any lighting that is provided shall be directed downwards, so as not to produce a glare into the sky or onto
adjoining properties or roads or rights-of-way.
7. All permits for land disturbance activities associated with the monopole, equipment, roads, etc. must be
obtained as required by regulations.
8. Engineered stamped plans for the monopole, antennas, and any other associated equipment must be in
compliance with Section 125-30.3.D.(2) of the Page County Zoning Ordinance. The engineered plans must
be submitted and approved by Page County prior to the start of construction.
9. The proposed wireless communication facilities must be adequately insured for injury and property damage
based on Section 125-30.3.D.(4) of the Page County Zoning Ordinance. Proof shall be submitted prior to
construction.
10. Screening requirement shall be a 6-foot board on board privacy fence. Landscaping requirement as
referenced in Section 125-30.3.G(4) shall be waived.
11. Prior to the issuance of the building permit, the occupant must provide a detailed engineering soils report.
12. This special use permit may be revoked upon material noncompliance with the terms of the permit, or upon
violation of any other relevant terms of the Zoning Ordinance or any other ordinances of the County of Page,
Virginia. However, prior to the commencement of any action to revoke this permit, the county shall notify the
permit holder in writing of the material in noncompliance or violation, and the permit holder shall have thirty
(30) days thereafter to cure the material non-compliance or violation. The notice shall be deemed given
when hand delivered to the permit holder or when mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the
permit holder.
13. Any change of use or expansion not included in this special use permit will require an additional, new, or
modified special use permit as required by the Page County Zoning Ordinance at that time.
14. The Zoning Administrator or their designated representative may visit the site at any time to ensure

compliance with the special use permit.
Planning Commission Adjourn: 7:54 p.m.
Motion: Isaac Smelser moved to adjourn the Planning Commission meeting. William Turner seconded and the motion
carried.
___________________________________
Jared Burner, Chairman

___________________________________
William Turner, Secretary

MINUTES
PAGE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION
December 14, 2021
Members Present
Catherine Grech, District 1
Keith Weakley, Vice Chairman, District 3
William Turner, Secretary, District 5

Donnie Middleton, District 2
Isaac Smelser, District 4

Members Absent
Steve Atkins, District 2

Jared Burner, Chairman, District 3

Staff Present
Tracy Clatterbuck

Brooke Newman

Call to Order
Vice Chairman Weakley called the December 14, 2021 Page County Planning Commission Regular
Meeting to order in the Board of Supervisors Room located at the Page County Government Center, 103 S
Court Street, Luray, Virginia at 7:00 p.m. The call to order was followed by The Pledge of Allegiance and
a Moment of Silence. Vice Chairman Weakley reminded all commissioners and speakers to please turn on
and/or speak into the microphones. The meeting was live streamed via YouTube. Ms. Clatterbuck conducted
an attendance roll call.
Adoption of Agenda
Mrs. Grech made a motion to adopt the agenda as submitted. Mr. Turner seconded the motion. The motion
passed unanimously.
Public Hearing
A. Jeffrey A. Cardwell- Special Use Permit Application
Ms. Clatterbuck presented the following staff report:
Jeffrey A. Cardwell has filed an application for a special use permit to place a manufactured home in the
Land of Luray Subdivision located on Park View Drive, Luray, VA, and further identified b tax map number
48B-6-B14. The density range in the area is Medium-High. The applicant is proposing to put a 13’8”x48’
singlewide on the lot. The property is currently improved with storage buildings.
Pursuant to § 125-11 D.(3) of the Page County Zoning Ordinance, a manufactured home in a subdivision
is only permitted by a special use permit. Section 125-29 of the Page County Zoning Ordinance, states
the county shall consider the following criteria upon application for a special use permit:
A. The existence of any restrictive covenants prohibiting the location of manufactured homes
in the subdivision, and if any such covenant exists at the time of application for the special
use permit, then such application shall be denied.
B. The number of manufactured homes existing in the subdivision for which application is
being made.
C. Consent of adjoining landowners.
D. The position of other landowners in the subdivision, including any position taken by the
property owners association of the subdivision.
E. Other criteria which may assure the enforcement of any other provisions of this section and
the intent of this section.

A copy of the covenants that were provided by the applicant are included in the application packet. There
are lots in the subdivision that currently have manufactured homes on them as well. Adjoining landowners
have been notified as required by the Code of Virginia.
The applicant reached out to the following agencies for comment:
• Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT) – Per James Craun with VDOT, there are no
objections to the request.
• Page County Health Department- Per Todd Lan, there are no objections to the request. A onebedroom sewage system construction permit has been issued.
• Page County Building Official- Per James Campbell, Page County Building Official, there are no
objections to the request.
• Subdivision Property Owners Association- Per the President or Secretary of the association,
there are no concerns at this time.
Regarding the Page County Comprehensive Plan, Volume 1, Chapter 3, Policy 8.1 states, “Encourage
and support initiatives that upgrade the quality of life and standards of living for residents, including
adequate and affordable housing.” Also, policy 8.3 states, “Encourage adequate affordable housing
opportunities for low- to moderate-income residents of Page County and to those working and desiring
to live in Page County.”
William Turner made the motion that the Page County Planning Commission approve the special use
permit for the placement of a manufactured home in the Land of Luray Subdivision on tax map number
48B-6-B14 with attached special use permit conditions. Catherine Grech seconded the motion. The
motion passed unanimously (5-0).
Citizen Comments on Agenda Items
Ken Farkas stated he lives on Hinton Road and this proposal would put solar panels within 300 feet of his
house. He made the following comments about the proposal:
1. It is imperative that Page County reinstate the comprehensive plan with respect to this project.
Though it was legally acceptable to do so, he thinks it was morally corrupt for the Board of
Supervisors to set the Comprehensive Plan aside. It certainly does not tell the citizens of Page
County that it is important to them.
2. He stated that the special use provisions need to include a revision that requires the use of US
Manufactured solar panels.
3. He has provided websites through the local paper and by email to the Board of Supervisors and will
do so for the Planning Commission as well.
4. If anything goes wrong with this project, he will hold Page County accountable.
Bonnie Snyder stated she was born and raised in Page County. She wants the county to maintain the use
of farmland as a use for agriculture and maintaining livestock. We want the Planning Commission and
Board of Supervisors to guard our county and its citizens against the encroachment unsightly and
environmentally dangerous solar farms that are installed by big industries whose main objection is their
profit margin and not a concern for protecting our county. She hopes they will put a halt on solar here in
Page County until we can consider the pros and cons and the practical environmental effects of the
Dogwood Facility. She does not want to see any of the negative effects such as the law suit that happened
in Frederick County or the current erosion of the property in Mount Jackson.
Ken Jemielity stated there are inconsistencies of Urban Grid and referenced the ads taken out in the local
newspaper when they first presented themselves to Page County. The initial height was 7 feet and now
they are proposing a maximum height of 20 feet. Another discrepancy is the setbacks. The proposed
setback is 150 feet from the edge of 340 but the drawing of the buffer shows 100 between the edge of the
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fence and the edge of 340 with the vegetation outside of the fence. How many years until the trees grow to
20 feet tall to actually buffer the view? He questioned the megawatts capacity proposed in the SUP, the
salvage value discrepancy and grading restrictions being removed.
Beth Snider stated that just as with Dogwood Project they changed a lot after they got approved and went to
DEQ. Essex County is facing $245,000 in stormwater penalties, Louisa County $50,000 in penalties, and
recently there was an article regarding the New Market project and it ruining other people’s land. She
questioned the site plans setbacks from the right-of-way center line verses the setback being from the
property line. Urban Grid first presented this as a 300-acre facility and now are proposing a 461-acre
facility.
Clyde Humphrey stated the consideration of the Cape Solar Project should be deferred until the County has
a good solar ordinance in place. He firmly believes that the Code of Page County does not allow for a solar
application to be considered until a code is in place. His comments are that a solar facility should be at least
a quarter of a mile from US HWY 340 and US HWY 211, should be at least one mile from the Town of
Luray, there should be a 200foot setback from adjacent property lines, and should not be on prime farm
land.
New Business
A. Johnathan Martinez – Special Use Permit Application
Ms. Clatterbuck presented the following staff report:
Jonathan Martinez has filed a special use permit application to operate a campground located on Kite
Hollow Road, Stanley, VA, and further identified by tax map number 82-A-9. The property is zoned as
Agriculture (A-1) and contains 47.039 acres. The property is currently vacant. Pursuant to § 125-10
D.(9) of the Page County Zoning Ordinance, campgrounds are only permitted by special use permit in
the Agriculture (A-1) zoning district.
According to the applicant, phase one will consist of 10 geodesic primitive structures. Each dome will
range between 20-30 feet in diameter. Each dome will sleep a max of four people. The campground will
have two common bathhouses shared by the units. They plan to hire one full-time employee to operate
the campground. The applicant plans to offer lodging every day of the year. No RV’s will be allowed
onsite.
Staff strongly urges the commission and board to carefully consider any proposed conditions that are
attached to the SUP.
The applicant has reached out to the following agencies for comment:
• Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT) – Per James Craun, there is currently no existing
entrance. He has marked an entrance location that meets VDOT’s minimum sight requirements.
The proposed location along with any site plane/entrance design will require further VDOT
review before the issuance of the permit for the entrance.
• Page County Health Department - Per Jennifer Jurell, if the SUP is approved, an engineered
designed septic plan for this proposal will be required as well as approval from the Virginia
Department of Health Office of Drinking Water for potable water source. Also, a VDH
Campground Permit will be required for this proposal before operating.
• Page County Building Official – Per James Campbell, he has no objections to the special use.
The applicant will be required to obtain proper information on structures and permits will be
required.
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The Page County Comprehensive Plan, Volume 1, Goal 6 states: Policy 6.2 states, “Encourage economic
growth that is compatible with the County’s rural character while generating a positive net cash flow for
the County.”
Policy 6.6 states, “Promote local employment opportunities.”
Policy 6.12 states, “Enhance the County’s tourism and retail base.”
For fiscal impact, staff will refer to Nina Long Fox, Page County Economic Development & Tourism
Director.
Discussion:
Ms. Grech referenced the executive summary regarding multiple phases and questioned how many
phases there will be. John Martinez responded that there will be multiple phases beginning with the
phase one site plan. With each phase they will submit an additional special use permit application. Ms.
Grech questioned whether or not they bathrooms with be inside each unit or built as common bathroom
facilities. The applicants addressed this question by responding they were working with the building
official to establish if the structures will be permanent. The hope is they can leave the domes up yearround and have common bathroom facilities. Ms. Grech inquired about quiet hours and enforcement.
The applicant stated any outside gathering and noise is prohibited after quiet hours. Guests must move
inside the domes to socialize. Those guests checking in after quiet hours are not considered under this
rule. Ms. Grech also inquired about the landscaping plans. The applicants stated that the site plan shows
existing vegetation. They do not plan on removing any vegetation and do not want to intrude on any
natural vegetation and want to preserve the natural environment. However, a fence would be place along
the property line. Ms. Grech stated the applicant’s discussion to preserve the natural landscaping should
drive the planning commissions conditions. Mr. Weakley mentioned downward facing lighting. Mr.
Weakley recommended putting this on the next agenda so absent planning commissioners could be
present for the discussion.
Mr. Smelser made a motion to continue discussions of this application until the next meeting. Mr. Turner
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously (5-0).
B. 2022 Meeting Schedule
Mr. Smelser made a motion to move the November 8, 2022 meeting to November 9, 2022 and accept
the Planning Commission Meeting Schedule for 2022 as amended with no other modifications. Mr.
Turner seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously (5-0).
C. Adoption of Minutes – November 23, 2021
Mr. Turner made a motion to accept the minutes of November 23, 2021 as presented. Mr. Smelser
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously (5-0).
Unfinished Business
A. Cape Solar, LLC – Special Use Permit Application
Mr. Janney- Robert Propes is here who is representative for Urban Grid. I understand that you wanted
to have some discussion with us. Our objective here tonight, I think for the fourth time, is to ask you to
set this for a public hearing in front of the Planning Commission. So, that is our objective. It is also our
objective to clarify anything that you have questions about before the public hearing. But to point out to
you that also we filed a detailed special use conditions that were proposed. They are our proposal, that
is not what you may recommend or not recommend to the board. But that is a draft in progress that
always gets fine-tuned with a presentation to the commission along with input from staff. We stand
ready to have a change of ideas with you tonight and hopefully we can set this matter for public
hearing. We do not have a presentation but we stand ready to answer your questions.
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Grech-I am the one who asked questions last time and I believe we received a new email from Mr.
Propes. Do you need me to reiterate the questions or do you have answers for us or would you like me
to rephrase them?
Propes-If you want to just step through in the order you would like to have them answered that is fine. I
did bring along, I know these were shared with you electronically, but I did bring along hard copies of
the preliminary site plan to make is easier. This will help facilitate the conversation. What I am sharing
with you is the preliminary site plan on page one, page two is a cross sectional view, the equipment and
page three is a setback landscaping concept specific to Route 340.
Grech-The site plan that you just handed us, is that a new site plan? It is not the same one that was
submitted to us.
Propes-Yes Ma’am that is correct. The changes are in page 17 of application, as Mr. Janney said, we
put forth a number of proposed conditions. Among those conditions was more generous setbacks and
those were found when we filled out the application last year. But the site plan that we submitted with
the application were sort of more standardized setbacks. I thought it would make more sense to share
with you a diagram that was reflective of the proposed conditions in the event that you wanted to adopt
those proposed conditions. The other difference or addition to the preliminary site plan that you’ll see is
some of these tan circle areas, blobs if you will, those represent 250-foot radiuses around existing
homes. Those are relevant because the conditions talk about the setbacks being the greater of 75 feet
from the fence to some one’s property line or 250 feet from a neighboring dwelling. So, the greater of
those, that would be the setback. I also point out that the setback from the edge of route 340 to the
fence line is 150 feet. So, this map that I share with you tonight reflects a more generous setback
profile than the previous layout that I shared with you.
Grech-So you have adjusted the new site plan to the conditions.
Propes-That is exactly right, yes. Should those conditions be something that you would like to pursue.
Grech-Thank you because that helps. I had trouble reconciling the two.
Propes-After hearing your comment at the last meeting, I put these together.
Grech-So I guess one of my first questions would be in the left margin, note number nine, you are
saying the solar facility approximates 429 acres objectifying the design and construction. The previous
one stated a different number. It used to be, when we heard about the application three years ago, it
was 356 acres. Would you like to explain to us what the differences are and what may or may not be
included in the 429 acres.
Propes-Yeah, so overall this site, if you take to the boundaries of all the parcels that are included. So,
569.5 acres of parcels. And then what I call within the fence is 429 acres. From where we submitted 3
years ago to now, I think we are just trying to utilize as much of the areas that we possibly can. And
this will continue to change within the envelope. The reason for that is we have done desktop studies
for the topography, the wetlands, any archaeological cultural features of the site. But as you do field
surveys you get more precise data and the layouts tend to shift a bit. Quite frankly they get smaller as
you need to avoid different features. This will naturally get a little bit more compact as we get toward
designing it for construction purposes and submit for site plan approval. But early on the typical
approach for solar development is to look at the area that you have to work with and assume that you
can put panels almost everywhere except where there is known flood plains and obvious wetland
features and things like that. And then you fine tune it prior to site plan approval.
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Grech-One of the questions I had and I am still a little confused, I see on your page that shows these
diagrams. What are the inverter cabinet elevation?
Propes-So, there is the inverters that are integral to the solar facility that are part of the equipment of
the solar facility. They are throughout the solar system. And this is just showing the typical width or
height of the bank of the converters.
Grech-And are those what are indicated by the red dots on the site plan?
Propes-Yes
Grech-So an inverter is typically 17 feet wide by 8 feet tall?
Propes-Yeah, they can vary
Grech-Is that a kind of box?
Propes-They are metal cabinets.
Grech-Am I correct in assuming that they would be the most noisy elements onsite?
Propes-Yeah, I think that is a good assumption that they would produce more sound than say the little
electric solar motors that drive the axel that the panels rotate on.
Grech-So, the diagram on the top would actually produce more noise than the tracker site at the
bottom.
Propes-Yes, that is correct. Also, important to note that the inverters and the tracker motors would not
be operating at night time.
Grech-And the height of the inverters we have on the top diagram, right?
Propes-Yes
Grech-So referring to the bottom diagram, the tracker site profile, if I am looking at the site profile on
the…if I was standing on this map, in order to have a view of the site profile where would I be standing.
I am still a little confused about the north, south, east, west. Let’s say I am standing on the edge of 340
half way or at the entrance or a little bit more towards Luray, what am I going to be seeing. Am I going
to be seeing the panels from the side like this or am I going to be seeing the arrays…? Do you follow
my question?
Propes-Oh, absolutely, I picked up on this question last time you asked it and I put together a little…. I
anticipated the question again. I put together three perspectives. One which is from route 340 looking
at the panels so you can kind of get a sense of the orientation they would be. A few different
viewpoints. It’s tough to see when you are zoomed out on the map so I did kind of a close up. And
again, let me just preface it by saying that these orientations could shift again. As we get towards
construction design because of these rows in between the panels, if the angle of those rows shift, that’ll
throw off the direction which is running north south right now of the panels. Just so we are clear the
tubes that run underneath the panels are oriented north south. The panels that sit on top they rotate on
this table north to west.
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Grech-North being up?
Propes-Yes
Grech-The arrays are going this way?
Propes-Yes, the underlying sort of tubes that are carrying these panels if you will be running north to
south and the panels sit on top and they are rotation east to west.
Grech-So here we’d have a tube running this way and the panels are rotating this way?
Propes-That’s right, yes that’s exactly right
Grech-So what are the difference in colorings here between the different colors of blue?
Propes-It was just part of this diagram that our engineer was working on.
Grech-So is each one of these little lines a row of panels or two rows of panels?
Propes-Yeah, each block if you will that is separated by some very fine lines are a row. And then kind
of the larger grids that you see in between are the access roads that run between the panels.
Grech-This document here, how is this different from the one you submitted with the application
originally?
Propes-That one is the same information if you will, but I noticed there was an error in the distance from
the existing side line of route 340 to the fence. The former document said 115 and it is supposed to be
150. So, the one that was emailed to Tracy and shared with you guys and the one that I passed out
tonight correctly shows that there is a 150 setback which is what we had talked about in the application.
Grech-So we are talking about the figure in the left margin.
Propes-Yes
Weakley-And I do have a question on that one. So why is it to the existing sideline and it is only 15 feet
and not the edge of right-of-way which should be 25 feet? Primary roads are 25- and 50-foot right-ofway’s, secondaries are 30 feet.
Propes-I am sorry, you are saying that the 15 feet should be something wider than that?
Weakley-It should be 25 feet. It should be to the right-of-way which is the property line. Everything is
the property line. 15 feet would be the painted white line which is meaningless.
Propes-So where do you think the 150 feet should be from the fence to the what then?
Weakley-It should be to the property line. The property line for the Commonwealth of Virginia should
be 25 feet from center line of the roadway not 15. 15 is what it is from the secondary roads.
Janney-It should be but it may not necessarily be everywhere.
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Weakley-For a primary route or secondary?
Janney-It should be but it doesn’t necessary…that is old route 12 though there.
Weakley-It is still a primary.
Propes-So you are saying to use existing sideline route 340 as the point of which we measure to the
fence it shouldn’t be measured from there?
Weakley-No, it should be 25 feet off the centerline.
Janney-He’s saying it should be 25 feet from the centerline for that line.
Propes-Ok, we can certainly make that amendment.
Grech-For the sake of consistency, if we are going to be considering setbacks, we should probably use
a consistent measurement and have all the setbacks be measured from the property line.
Janney-Yeah, I think that would be an appropriate thing to measure from the property line.
Grech-Because then it is consistent for all around the boundary of the property. When the setbacks
can be defined clearly from the property line. I think like that there is some consistency. Because if
not, I mean this is a project with so many elements compared to the one that just went to public
hearing. That we need all the help that we can get. So, to be how can apples and apples and oranges
and oranges and not get into…. a hence my question to you previously about the size of the sites, what
the measurements mean, we need to make sure. Because in the past numbers were thrown out by
various attorneys representing urban grid and sometimes, we were talking about bigger ridges of
panels, we were talking about structures, we were talking about total acreage and that was a lot of
confusion. And I think we need to be very clear that we are talking the same language. That we
understand the language that you are talking, that you understand the language that we are talking and
it is reflected accurately in the conditions. So, I am very cautious that given so much opposition to this
project that we need to be very careful in dotting our I’s and crossing our T’s. So, this is very important,
I am glad you pointed it out. As you gentlemen probably know, Mr. Weakley is a civil engineer, whose
specialty is roads and bridges. So, I think you can trust his comments on that.
Propes-Yes, and again from around other areas is a minimum of 75 feet from the property line. And
again, if there is a dwelling that’s relatively close to a property line, we are always at least 250 from a
dwelling.
Grech-Yes, I think at this point, we are just trying to understand and to make sense of what you
are…the specs of the application and to makes sense and to make sure they are congruent of each
other to the plans to the conditions and everything. And then we can talk about and then we can
proceed. But at this point we are just trying to make sense. So, I guess you are going to be modifying
this doc.
Propes-Yes, I can modify that.
Grech-Can you tell us a little bit about your other projects in Virginia? We understand you have some
actually in the Shenandoah Valley.
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Propes-Yes, we have a number of active development projects in Virginia. I have put together a table
here. These don’t represent all the projects in our portfolio but I would say they are the ones that are
most active. I did not add the Cape Project on here. The one that are highlighted are the ones that are
in operation. So, as you can see, we have quite a bit of experience of developing projects in Virginia.
Of course, we have projects in other states that we are developing as well.
Grech-Would you care to tell us a little bit about some of these projects?
Janney-Do you want him to compare them to this project in contrast?
Grech-Yes, which one do you think is the most comparable? First of all, I have a question…I have just
received this document for those that are listening online. In the third column there is title that says
generation compacity and megawatt. And this pertains to a question that I have. Is that nameplate, is
that maximum output, is that average output, is that something GPM will allow? Because we are often
hearing there are different outputs and then again, its talking apples and apples, oranges and oranges.
I don’t want there to be any confusion.
Propes-Yes, most of the times when people are referencing the size of a project, they’ll talk about the
nameplate capacity of the equipment. So, it’s the rated capacity that that equipment could generate
under peak conditions. I would say that one comparable project that I have personally been involved
with in my company is the Fox Glove Solar Project that is in Frederick County. It’s a 75-megawatt
project and it’s similar to the Cape Project. It’s an agricultural land, there’s a couple of land owners we
are working with. We got our conditional use project for that project in the summer of 2020 and we are
putting forth our designs to submit to the county for site plan approval right now for the project. It is
going to use the same type of technology the single action trackers.
Grech-If I’m not mistaken, when I looked at the application for Frederick County early on in the year, it
seemed to me that not all the tracts of land were adjacent to each other. They were not all in one tract
like this?
Propes-No, they are adjacent. It’s two land owners that have adjacent properties and essentially 3
parcels of land. There is a road that separates two of the parcels. That would still be considered
adjacent, just separated by a road.
Weakley-Rather than dissecting all these, lets stick with Cape.
Grech-You kind of explained what nameplate capacity was. Could you explain the difference between
nameplate capacity output, average output and explain all these differences to me? And explain to me
why this project is rated 70 to 100 megawatts. Why not one number?
Propes-So, peak output is really kind of the way we think about that is what our electrical grid limit is.
So, in other words, it’s the maximum amount of megawatts that we can place on the transmission line.
And that’s what we put on our inner connection application is to say we are proposing a project and
here is the peak output of the system and they study that to determine what the implications are of
putting that much power onto the electrical grid. Then the nameplate capacity is what the makeup of
the solar panels collectively are going to be able to generate.
Grech-So a theoretical maximum output?
Propes-Yeah, the maximum output, that’s right. And often times, most of the times solar projects will
have a higher nameplate capacity than the grid limit. The reason for that is maybe its 5% or 10% more
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is to account for electrical losses between where the energy is generated at the panel to ultimately
flowing into the electrical grid. So, to help with some of those losses. Often times the equipment will
have a higher nameplate capacity. But as long as we are not putting in more energy than PGM is
allowing us to, that’s fine by them. We can’t put in more energy than what we would be granted by
PGM to do.
Grech-So your peak output may be limited by PGM. I think somebody that number at 60.1, somebody
mentioned that.
Propes-This project, the limit is 100 megawatts. That is our grid limit. We can’t put any, inject any
more power than 100 megawatts to the electrical grid.
Grech-And that is limited by whom?
Propes-PGM
Grech-I thought I read differently in the literature that you gave us. But I cannot site where that is. It
was somewhere in here but we can get back to that in the future. So, what is your average output?
What do you anticipate your average output being?
Propes-I can share some values with you in terms of kilowatt hours across the year based on the
current technology assumptions we have. But quite honestly those values are going to change a little
bit as we refine the design. But again, I can share with you what the average looks like across the year
based on the irradiance the site receives if that is something you would be interested in taking a look at.
Grech-Yes, do you have a figure for us?
Propes-Yes, I can share that with you. I will follow up and share that.
Grech-One of the reasons we are asking this is I believe in the agreement that you are proposing to
sign with the county, you mention a megawatt figure and I wanted to know if that was which one of
these is it? Is it a nameplate? Is that a….
Propes-Yes, I am glad you asked. There’s been some misinformation on that. The revenue share that
a lot of counties are now getting from solar projects after the legislation passed the clean energy act is
$1,400 a megawatt. That is based on the nameplate capacity of the system. So, if we install a project
that is 100 megawatts, the count would receive $1,400 x 100 every year regardless of how much
energy we generate. Let me emphasize that. It is not dependent on the amount of energy generated
by the system. It is a flat amount that the county receives and then there is an escalator associated
with that as well every 5 years it goes up 10%. I appreciate you asking that question, I definitely recall
some lack of clarity.
Grech-So it will be based on 100 megawatts or 170 megawatts since you are giving us both numbers in
the application?
Propes-We haven’t yet defined that and again part of that is related to having a better understanding of
the site and setbacks. The greater the setbacks, the tighter the site is going to be and the less
megawatts. A larger site or a larger array, more megawatts, more revenue to the county vs a smaller
site less dollars to the county. TBD, I guess.
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Grech-So one of my questions at our last meeting was concerning the setbacks and I was especially
curious for you to explain the substation. And the setbacks along the substation on the west boundary
are only 25 feet, would you care to explain please? And explain the difference between a substation
and switch yard.
Propes- Sure, the reason for that narrower setback there is it is really because of where the existing
transmission line is. And utilities typically like to site the station built which is the switching station per
practically underneath the line. You don’t want to have long lead lines going to the transmission line.
So that is the reason why it is situated there. But you’ll also note that while it is close to that one parcel
of 25 feet, on the south side of that it is more than 75 feet from that property line. So, the difference
between what I call project substation and a switching station is the project substation is always owned
by the owner of the solar facility. Whereas the switching station becomes property of the utility.
Grech-Can you just explain the difference in function between those two concepts.
Propes-The project substation is where all the 34.5 kilovolt lines that come from the inverters
throughout the array come together and gather. It is the centralized point. They come to the project
substation. And that is 34.5 kilovolts. And then that energy is stepped up to the energy of the existing
transmission line which in this instance is 138 kilovolts and then there’s literally a line or maybe more
than one line that leads from the project substation overhead into the switching station and then the
utility owns everything in the fence of the switching station.
Grech-So the switching station belongs to the utility and what does it do?
Propes-It’s kind of a final termination point before the energy is placed onto the transmission line. And
they have control equipment to control and smooth out the power and shut the system off/trip the
system if they needed to isolate our generating facility from the grid. That is standard for any type of
generation. To be able to isolate that from the electrical grid.
Grech-So, explain to us what they look like.
Weakley-Let me ask a different question before we get into to that. So why is it hugging that one
property line? Why can’t you slide it right down the transmission line? Because where it is right now it
has less of a setback than if someone were to build a house.
Propes-That is something we can look at again. These plans are not set in stone. It was placed there
as a matter of this is the most optimal spot. But is can probably be shifted.
Weakley-Seems like it can obviously be shifted. You can follow the line and you can put in between
those two property lines and maximize the setback and it is still under the line. Right now, it is closer
and has less of a setback than a residential construct.
Janney-And that is the nature of these discussions, to talk about what is possible from both sides.
Isaac-With this switching station, is there any danger associated such as possible explosions anything
that can go wrong?
Propes-I think there’s always apparent risk to high voltage equipment at any substation. Whether it is
at the distribution level, close to neighborhoods or at a transmission station.
Isaac-So you are saying yes?
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Propes-Yeah, it is not a zero-risk facility for sure but does utility equipment operate reliably and safely,
absolutely. It’s got a fantastic track record. Utilities are some of the most conservative companies in
the world. They are all about keeping the lights on and generating power safely. This type of
equipment is no different than the type of equipment that you find in any other substation. It is not
unique to solar.
Grech-I have a question that is probably more directed at Mr. Janney because he is familiar with Page
County. When I come out of the fairground here in Luray, there is a substation there right?
Janney-Absolutely
Grech-And that is quite an ugly site. I took a picture of it, I have it on my phone.
Janney-It’s probably not the prettiest thing in the world. But it is an essential item for the community of
Luray and Page County. There is also a smaller one down at the old Potomac Edison Offices off
Mechanic Street. There is one up in the open field up at New Port at Grove Hill. Yes, there is a lot of
those and they are essential the same.
Grech-So that is a switch yard or a substation?
Janney-They are substations.
Grech-So here is my point, I am going somewhere with this. That equipment, whatever it is called, is
very much taller than any of the objects that we have been referred to in your diagram.
Propes-Yes, that is true.
Grech-What is the maximum height of the equipment in the substation and the switchyard. Because
that is probably the ugliest part of your whole site.
Propes-True, because it’s a tall structure. Of course, there are existing transmission lines. A 138gauge transmission line that runs right there. So, this is certainly not pristine space through that
corridor because there is an existing electrical facility there. If I did not include it in my application, the
potential height of that, I will ask if I can get back to them. It is not something I have off the top of my
head.
Grech-So, if I am not mistaken, this is going to be our only opportunity to regulate the part of this
structure that is going to be deeded to a utility. Once it is deeded to a utility, we are going to lose our
ability to regulate it. So, if we want to have it be less unsightly or further from property lines, this is the
only chance we have. Is that correct Ms. Clatterbuck?
Clatterbuck-That is correct.
Grech-So I think we are going to have to do our due diligence on that proving adequate setbacks and
screening. I don’t see any particular screening around the substation, unless I am mistaken. That is
definitely something we look at. I will send you Ms. Clatterbuck, the pictures I have of the substation at
the fairground. It is one ugly site. And I would not want that in my backyard. Or is it had to be in my
backyard, I wouldn’t want it close and I would want it screened.
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Propes-Just to point out, we fully anticipate putting vegetative buffer where there isn’t any or there is not
enough, to supplement the existing vegetation that is around the site. That is something that we would
be happy to work through in terms of defining exactly what that vegetative buffer was. We did propose
a concept for the vegetative buffer for the project on route 340. But, let me just state there is going to
be a vegetative buffer whether it is just existing or the existing plus supplemental where it is a little bit
scattered around the entire site. Including the substation.
Grech-So regarding your map that now has these brown blobs on the new map. You said that was like
a 250-foot buffer.
Propes-250-foot radius
Grech-Can we infer from the fact that this specifically indicated that they would be buffered?
Propes-Around the entire perimeter outside the fence, the fence will be on the inside of the landscape,
outside the landscaping will be again either just what is naturally there today if it is sufficient or if it is
necessary, supplemental vegetation.
Grech-So you are saying around the whole perimeter?
Propes-Yes. There is quite a bit of natural vegetation around this project site today. We haven’t done a
micro analysis of like hey this 100-foot section here could use a little bit more, this seems to be fine,
that is something that we will do. But that is not something that we’ve done today. But we do plan to
have vegetative buffering around the entire site.
Grech-Thank you. At the last meeting, Mr. Burner isn’t here tonight and I think we need to discuss this
with him when he is here, he reminded us that in Rockingham County, they had requested that the
substation be in the interior of the project in order to keep it away from adjacent property owners. Do
you think that that might be because the overhead transmission lines were also in the middle of the
property? Because you indicated that they needed to be next to the transmission lines? Would that be
your guess, because if we asked you to put the substation right smack in the middle of the property,
what would that mean to you?
Propes-Yeah, I mean we carry that electrical line from the interior out to that switching station for one.
Grech-Because that would be one way of making it less obtrusive.
Propes-Yeah, I again not being an electrical engineer and design expert, I’d have to get back to you on
that. The full implications of it. But all I can say it typically these substations and switching stations are
sited next to each other and right under the existing transmission line.
Grech-And that is something that I assume Mr. Burner would like to talk with you when he is here. One
last point I would like to make. I am a little confused, when I looked at putting solar panels on my
house, I was told they can only use the portion of the roof that faced south. Of course, the panels
wouldn’t be on track, they would be affixed on a roof. But I see on the topographical map I see a lot of
lines indicating a change in slope. How can you justify having so many solar panels on slopes that are,
in my understanding, facing north? Because, that would be, as far as my understanding, the wrong
orientation for solar panels. Which would mean to me, correct me if I am wrong, but the panels would
have to be at full tilt in order to capture any amount of sunlight. Therefore, there would be more rain,
more soil erosion. Why are you putting panels on north slopes? I had asked GIS to provide us with a
better topographical map, but actually I think I am going to refer that to you.
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Propes-There are tolerances that we can withstand in terms of slopes and terms of tolerances the
equipment can stand. Typically, a maximum of 15% slopes. If it too steep we stay away from it. If it
slightly steeper, we can grade it.
Grech-How mush grading do you anticipate having to do since you are mentioning grading?
Propes-I couldn’t give you an intelligent answer on that, given where we are in the project design.
Grech-15% slope seems quite high. My understanding in a recent conference or something that I read
quite recently, it might have been from the Alliance of the Shenandoah Valley, it was mentioned that
Dominion favored no more slopes than about 7% or 8%. Why would you go as far as 15? That seems
to be very steep to me.
Propes-That is the tolerance from the manufacturer for trackers. We can put it up to 15% slopes.
Grech-To me it doesn’t make sense. I don’t know why you would want to put as many panels and want
to take advantage of steep slopes in the wrong orientation at my understanding. Because then you
have more problems with storm water management.
Propes-Again, you either grade them to come within tolerance so they are not so steep. Which it is
costly to move dirt around so you want to do as little grading as possible on a site. That is high
expense. So, you can put a panel on a 15% slope, that’s great. If you can put it on a 18% slope if
that’s where the technology heads, that is fantastic. Obviously, you do have to be concerned with
shading if the slopes become too great. You will have to space the panels apart so they are not
shading each other and then you are using more buildable area to do that. And again, that kind of goes
against what you are trying to do which is use the land most efficiently and most compactly.
Grech-And that directly speaks to why we are here. We are here to consider land use implications of
your project. And of course, because we are a farming community, we would like to minimize the land
that you will occupy. So, I guess we would ask you to be more efficient to not put panels on slope that
would require that you space them out more because of shading. So, hence my question, why would
you want to put panels on north facing slopes? Because they actually require more space. And to me
that is not a most efficient use of space. So, I just wanted you to address that.
Propes-Yeah, I will say in terms of land use, I will just point out solar while it is certainly a long-term
use. It is not a permanent use. At the end of this project, this land could be turned back again to
agricultural use.
Grech-That is not what we are hearing.
Propes-I don’t know of any other commercial development where you can actually do that.
Grech-That is not what we are hearing from out farmers but let’s leave that one alone. I would reiterate
my request maybe can you furnish a topographical map that shows us a little bit which one of these
panels array which group of panels array are going to be on what kind of slope? So, we can have an
idea when we look at this map which part of this map is going to be on a 5% slope, on a 10% slope and
which one is on a steep slope. It seems to me the ones that are on parcel number 1, 2 and 7 seem to
be on steeper slopes. And maybe oriented towards the north. Can you give us more information on
that? I believe in the condition, correct me if I am wrong, you are requesting a 15% slope.
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Propes-Yes
Grech-Can you give us an idea of which ones are located on those slopes, should we not agree with
that percentage?
Propes-Yes, I can work on a topographical map. So, there is the underlying topographical map that you
are looking at. But what I hear you say is it would be helpful to have some slope gradience included on
there.
Grech-Yes, I am sorry maybe the gentlemen here are a little more able to read a topographical map.
But I am looking at this mark and it is not clear to me which one of these groups of panels are on
steeper slopes and which is their orientation.
Janney-Ms. Grech, you are basically if we can do an overlay of topo.
Weakley-Well the overlay of topo is on there. I think what she is asking is can you make it simple and
color-coded areas that are zero to five is one color, five to seven is another color….
Propes-Yes, we can absolutely do that.
Janney-So, our request stands. We would like you to take action tonight, after all these times we’ve
been here to set the public hearing date. So, we can move this on.
Middleton-We sit here and listen to all this but we aren’t doing anything to help the property owners.
They are going to be stuck with these ugly substations and all these panels for years to come. We
need to do something else for them too. To help them with this.
Weakley-Well, we haven’t yet drafted our conditions. That is the next step and something we need to
put a lot of thought into.
Grech-I don’t think any project ever in Page County has been such a large one and has never
generated such strong public response. Such a strong negative public response. So, we need to
double up on our due diligence and take our time.
Weakley-Well, I think we are waiting for that extra bit of information. And Jared is not here, he has
some pretty good insight into this. So once we get that, we can start drafting our conditions at the next
meeting. That would be my suggestion.
Grech-We should probably postpone discussions since Mr. Burner is not here tonight. I know he has
some comments.
B. Review draft of Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance provided by the Berkley Group
No discussion at this time. Will be put on the next meeting agenda.
Open Citizen Comment Period
Ken Farkas stated he would like to know the decimal level of the inverters and the substation. His concern
is the noise not only at night but during the day as well. How much power will it really put out and what is
the peak power? He also stated that the money generated to the county is minimal considering the county’s
budget. He made note that this one project will eat up 14% of the farm land in Page County. The
substation serves Louden County, not Page County. The slope of the project is 15 percent, which can
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cause a lot of damage and the water that will run off and sit near his property will go straight into the water
source. His well is 300 feet away.
Paul Otto suggested to the commission they should do their best for Page County.
Ken Jemielity stated he felt they wanted to skim for approval and then do whatever they want. Just as in the
Dogwood project, none of the numbers presented match the previously proposed numbers. As far of the
slope, they removed grading completely form the SUP. There are errors in the documents. If they become
approved, will this become the standard. The SUP on file is not reflective of the final application. We the
public are working without dated and misinformation. The research that we do and the comments that we
present may not be relevant because the game has changed in between the time the SUP was posted and
this evening. We can’t effectively respond without being up to speed.
Beth Snider pointed out her concern that Mr. Propes left before they got up to speak. She is concerned
about the shell game of the documents and going to public hearing with maybes and lack of answers. Mr.
Propes stated that this will be turned back to farm land. How many projects have been turned back to farm
land? He referenced other projects that are under development. What does that look like? They said
Dogwood would be completed in 2021. Cape Solar, they said is 65 megawatts capacity and that it would be
completed by next year. They have had 32 months on Dogwood. She asked the commission to take their
time.
Clyde Humphrey urged the commission to write a solar ordinance before they do anything with solar farms
and write the terms and conditions for any solar farm that they want to consider. He stressed the county
should write the terms and conditions, not the developer.
Chairman’s Report
None
Clerk’s Report
None
Adjourn

Vice Chairman Weakley requested a motion to adjourn the meeting. Mr. Turner made a motion to adjourn.
The motion was seconded by Mr. Weakley. The meeting was adjourned at 8:46 p.m.

___________________________________
Keith Weakley, Vice Chairman

___________________________________
William Turner, Secretary
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MINUTES
PAGE COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION
January 11, 2022
Members Present
Catherine Grech, District 1
Jared Burner, Chairman, District 3

Allan Betcher, District 2
Isaac Smelser, District 4

Members Absent
William Turner, Secretary, District 5
Staff Present
Tracy Clatterbuck

Kelly Butler

Call to Order
Chairman Jared Burner called the January 11, 2022 Page County Planning Commission Regular Meeting to order
in the Board of Supervisors Room located at the Page County Government Center, 103 S Court Street, Luray,
Virginia at 7:00 p.m. The call to order was followed by The Pledge of Allegiance and a Moment of
Silence. Chairman Burner reminded all commissioners and speakers to please turn on and/or speak into the
microphones. The meeting was live streamed via YouTube. Ms. Clatterbuck conducted an attendance roll call. Mr.
Turner was noted as absent.
Adoption of Agenda
Mrs. Grech made a motion to adopt the agenda as submitted. Mr. Smelser seconded the motion. The motion
passed unanimously.
Citizen Comments on Agenda Items
Ken Farkas stated he is looking at risk versus reward in regards to Page County and the Cape Solar project. Risk:
1. Reduce Page County prime farmland by 14% forever.
2. Can reduce surrounding home values.
3. Kill birds in the middle of a bird sanctuary.
4. Electromagnetic field can cause neighbors to get sick.
5. Can get ground water contamination from storm runoff, battery issues, and heavy metals.
6. Potential lawsuits from neighbors like himself losing the use of their home.
7. In event of a tornado, hurricane, or hail storm, you have a potential superfund site.
8. You will have cause for more local law enforcement to maintain security.
9. You’ll need first responder training due to the nature of solar farms and their unique hazards.
10. Potential for loss of KOA tax revenue due to reduced usage.
11. Being associated with the procurement of solar panels manufactured through the use of slave labor.
12. Loss of tourism income due to this big ugly thing sticking out.
Rewards:
1. You get to check the green energy box.
2. Page County gets $140,000 per year. Which is less than 3/10 of 1% of the annual budget.
In the end the solar company, which has virtually no risk, will be richly rewarded since they will rake in millions of
dollars and be gone by the time anything bad happens. The landowner has virtually no risk and will be richly
rewarded and be paid millions of dollars, protected by an LLC and bankruptcy limitations. Even Mr. Janney will get
his reward for the work that he is doing. But Page County will get all of the risk, and virtually no reward.
Kris Garrett thanked the commission for all the work that they put in. The ordinance that was submitted to the
Board of Supervisors was a good one. She would like to see that resubmitted to the new Board.

Clyde Humphrey strongly urged the Planning Commission to proceed with an ordinance for solar facilities. He
believes it is unlawful to consider any application for a solar farm before an ordinance is in place. They need to
push to get the ordinance revised and updated, then forwarded to the Board of Supervisors.
Beth Snider thanked the Commission for taking their time with the application. The ordinance was a decent
ordinance and it was sad that the Board turned that down.
New Business
A. FY2023 Draft Planning Commission Budget Review
Tracy Clatterbuck stated that the budget is due to finance in two weeks. Basically, it is the same as what was
presented last year. Ms. Clatterbuck discussed a Capital Improvement Project proposal for getting tablets for
the Commission members. She asked for feedback from the Commission before proceeding with that
proposal. The Commission was split as to whether they would be interested in switching to tablets or if they
preferred the paper packets. Some concerns were the platform interface, Apple v. Microsoft, still needing
paper for detailed reviews of plans, the need for annotations on paper documents. Ms. Clatterbuck stated she
would talk with Mr. Turner, as he was absent, to get his opinion and then follow up with them via email.
Chairman Burner asked how much the training cost for each Commission member. Ms. Clatterbuck stated it
is $550 just for the class. Some sessions are virtual, one or two are in-person. About $500 is factored in for
lodging per person. Mr. Burner asked if what we have proposed in the budget is too much. Ms. Clatterbuck
stated that her opinion is to not request less.
Mrs. Grech made a motion to adopt the budget as presented in the draft. Mr. Betcher seconded the motion.
The motion passed unanimously.
B. February 22, 2022 Planning Commission Work Session Discussion
Chairman Burner stated that Board approved their meeting schedule at their last meeting, moving their
meetings to Mondays. However, they moved one of their meetings to February 22 because of a holiday. The
Planning Commission meeting and the Board meeting would be occurring at the same time. Ms. Clatterbuck
gave the option of having the meeting in the smaller conference room at the same date and time or to move
the meeting to another date. It was suggested to move the meeting to February 17 because of scheduling.
Mrs. Grech made a motion to move the February 22 meeting to February 17. Mr. Smelser seconded the
motion. The motion passed unanimously.
C. Adoption of Minutes – November 17, 2021
Mrs. Grech requested more time to review the minutes. Mrs. Grech made a motion to table the adoption of
the minutes for November 17, 2021. Mr. Betcher seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.
Unfinished Business
A. Jonathan Martinez – Special Use Permit Application
Both applicants were available via phone because the applicants are out of state. The Commission was
provided with a list of rules and regulations for the campground as requested. The Commission was also
provided with a website that illustrated the dome structures that are being proposed. The applicant described
the structure in more detail and how it is made. They are considering placing bathrooms in the dome if allowed
by building code or potentially building a bathhouse. With 10 domes, there will be 5 domes per bathhouse.
Chairman Burner asked about the heating system. Typically, they use a cast-iron stove. In case of freezing
temperatures, units would be winterized or water would be shut off for the day. Mrs. Grech asked about the
color of the domes. The applicant’s intention is to keep them white because they want them to be recognized
for what they are. They would be providing some landscaping. The applicant stated that the neighbors are
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very far away and can’t be seen. The tree line along the property lines screens them from neighbors. Also,
many of the existing trees that are on the site will be preserved. Not much grading is being proposed other
than the entrance and each site with parking. Mrs. Grech asked if a buffer is being proposed. The applicant
stated that if there are any holes in the tree line along that part of the property, they would plant additional
trees.
Chairman Burner verified that the applicant is suggesting the project is going to occur in phases. Phase 1 is
what is being proposed at this time. Chairman Burner asked Ms. Clatterbuck if they meet the 10-acre
requirement because the area of Phase 1 is less than 10 acres. Chairman Burner felt that the area of the site
plan should be the 10 acres. Ms. Clatterbuck read from the county code that indicates the minimum parcel
size shall be 10 contiguous acres. Mr. Smelser agreed that the lot size meets that requirement. The applicants
stated that they can make that work. Chairman Burner stated that they can configure the site how they want
while maintaining site and open space requirements, but the SUP should be for 10 acres.
Mr. Betcher asked about having a caretaker 24/7. The applicant stated that a caretaker would be on-call 24/7
with them being on-site daily. Ms. Butler stated that per the Building Official, James Campbell, heating is
required, not cooling. Engineered plans would be required for loading requirements for plan review.
Mr. Smelser made a motion to set the Jonathan Martinez special use permit application for public hearing on
February 8, 2022. Mr. Betcher seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.
B. Cape Solar, LLC – Special Use Permit Application
Ms. Clatterbuck: Mr. Propes is available via phone. Mr. Janney (counsel for the applicant) is present. I don’t
have anything to add. I’ll let them explain what they provided to us based on the comments from the last time
we discussed this.
Mr. Janney: As far as I know, we supplied all the documents that were requested. We offered to answer
questions that anyone had to submit and as far as we know we have answered all of those. This application
was filed December 10, 2020. We are here again for, I think, the fourth time since September asking you to
set this for a public hearing. You have a 30-page draft conditions that have been submitted along with
documentation. I don’t know if staff has a report as to recommendations regarding the proposed conditions,
but you have all of those before you. We do not have a draft back from the staff on any amendments or
recommendations on the conditions. So, we assume those are acceptable. At least for the purpose of going
forward with the public hearing where you can get the public comments. Although, you seem to have public
comments at every single meeting of the planning commission. Mr. Chairman, I would respectfully request
that you set a public hearing date.
Chairman Burner: We will take that into consideration. Any questions? I know some commission members
had some additional questions they wanted to ask after the previous meeting. If you have questions for Mr.
Propes or Mr. Janney, now would be the time to ask them.
Mrs. Grech: Hello, this is Cathy Grech, Mr. Propes. I would like to refer to your email in which you refer to the
questions regarding the substation and switching station. And I would like to ask Ms. Clatterbuck to project on
the screen a photograph of…I don’t know if it’s a substation or a switchyard…which is next to the fairgrounds
in Luray. I would like the photograph to be there to look at. You say here…I’m going to read the questions and
your answers Mr. Propes. The question…what is the height of the tallest piece of equipment associated with
the project substation and switching station. Your answer reads, “The tallest piece of equipment associated
with the project is something called a static mast. There would be three static masts, two of which are located
in a switching station and one located in a project substation. The mast in the project substation is the tallest
with a height of 60-75’.” Well, I have to pause on that. Sixty to 75 feet? That is a 6-story building, at least. That
is extremely high. I assume that is what we see here on this picture about 1/3 from the left. That is extremely
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high. When this first project was presented 3 years ago to the community, we were told…you know…the
panels, nothing is going to be above the height of some tall corn. Now, we are going to height of equipment
which is 10 times that. I’m a little alarmed at that height. Then your answer goes on to read, “The static mast
is by far the tallest piece of equipment with most of the other equipment having a height of 20-30’.” That’s still
a 3-story building. And judging from the picture that we are looking at now on the screen those are nasty, very
large pieces of equipment. I have grave concerns on how such large pieces of equipment can be screened. I
drove yesterday to the fairgrounds and I took a few more pictures. If you want to show them Ms. Clatterbuck.
None of them show the substation and the switchyard as a very pleasant piece of equipment to look at. If you
look at the one with the blue sky. I assume that’s the mast to which you refer to. If you look at the fence…the
fence is 6’. I went and stood next to it. That’s a really tall piece of equipment. I don’t know how you think you’re
going to be able to camouflage that with a bit of buffering, but that’s awfully tall. You’re telling us the
approximated, and I’m reading from your response, “the approximated fence dimension of the project
substation is estimated to be 200’x180’ and the dimension of the switching stations are estimated to be
350’x250’.” If I refer to the site plan of December 8th that you gave us last time, I’m a little confused because
it says here that the blue square indicates the switchyard located in the parcel included in the SUP. And the
orange square indicates the proposed subdivided parcel to be deeded to the utility company prior to the
construction of the solar facility. Whereas, if I go on and read the response to the next question, you will see
that it is in conflict with what it says in the site plan. The question was, “Can you locate the project substation
and/or the switching station closer to the interior of the project?” Your answer reads, “Locating the project
substation within the interior of the project creates negative impacts to the project. Overhead electrical lines
would need to be built from the project substation to the switching station resulting in increased costs
associated with installing the lines and poles and the need to utilize more land to site the panels. The addition
of overhead lines and poles would create a negative visual impact that cannot be mitigated with vegetative
buffer.” You’re making my point. “In addition, the overhead lines and poles would cast shadows on the
adjacent solar panels which would reduce the energy production. With respect to locating the switching
station, this facility would be owned by First Energy, which would determine the location of their facility. It has
been our experience that utilities prefer to locate switching stations in close proximity to the existing power
lines.” There are a couple of things that I would like to clarify here. You’re telling us that it’s the switching
station that would be owned by First Energy. On the site plan, you’re telling us it would be the substation. So,
I’m a little confused.
Mr. Propes: There’s two colored rectangles that you noted on the preliminary site plan. The orange is the
utility substation. The utility-owned substation would be owned by the utility. The other facility would be owned
by the project essentially. I was trying to make the point that you really can’t locate them separate and apart
from each other. They are typically located adjacent to each other. For the reasons I outlined in the response.
In response to the other comments that you made regarding the height of the pole. I don’t have the benefit of
seeing the image that you are looking at of the substation near the fairgrounds. I really can’t comment on that
visual. These are steel poles that rise into the air. Yes, they’re tall. But I’ll also note that this is a built-up
environment. There’s a housing development. There are roads. And there’s an existing overhead transmission
line that runs right through the area. I don’t know the height of that line, but I have to believe it’s at least a few
stories, maybe slightly higher. I haven’t measured it. This is not a pristine, forested environment. This is a
built-up environment with man made structures. We’re placing additional equipment in an already built
environment.
Mrs. Grech: So, please explain to me when you say in your response with respect to locating the switching
station. This facility would be owned by First Energy. And then on the plan it says here that the utility, the
orange square, is going to be deeded to the utility. And that’s referred to as a substation. So, which one is
going to be deeded to the utility? Because the site plan says one thing and your response says another.
Mr. Propes: I think it may be a mistake in terminology. The utility owned feature is often referred to as a
switchyard. And the project substation is what’s owned by the solar project owner. It may just be a matter of
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the terms getting switched around. I can clarify that. It needs to be corrected from a terminology standpoint.
But it doesn’t really change what is being illustrated here on the map. There’s two utility yards with equipment
sitting adjacent to each other in that location. That’s really what we’re trying to illustrate there.
Mrs. Grech: And you’re confirming that they need to be adjacent to each other?
Mr. Propes: Yes, I am.
Mrs. Grech: And you are also confirming that the one that is going to be deeded to the utility is going to have
to be located where you have located it on the map. Because that is where the utility is going to require if we
judge it on their experience and what they usually do. Correct?
Mr. Propes: That’s correct.
Mrs. Grech: So, the remark that I have for my fellow commissioners and for the public is that it is clear to me
now that from the moment the substation or the switch yard is going to be deeded to the utility it escapes
control in Page County. We won’t be able to control it anymore. Utilities are regulated by the state. State
Corporation Commission. You can refer to state code for that. So, this will escape our regulatory power. We
can impose, let’s say, setbacks for these facilities, but there’s no guarantee they will be respected once they
are turned over to the utility. So, this is our one and only opportunity to regulate and we need to be very careful
that even if we try to regulate the substation if it is going to be attached to a switchyard that is not going to be
able to be regulated. That’s going to escape our regulation. So, it seems to me that if the project goes forward
regardless of what we put in conditions, the regulation of this whole, these two yards, that are adjacent. One
is 350’x250’, that’s two acres. The other one is 200’x180’, that’s .2 (correction by staff .8) acres. So that’s
almost three acres of structures as ugly as you can see in the pictures before you. I have a lot of concerns. I
drove through the Old Farm subdivision yesterday. It's awfully close to the back fence of the subdivision. And
it’s not only close to the residences that are along the back fence, but if you drive through Old Farms, the
topography would make this awful-looking switchyard visible to many more houses than the ones just adjacent
to the back fence. I was horrified. So, Tracy, if you would like to show…
Mr. Propes: Mrs. Grech, when you drove through Old Farms, just curious, were you able to see the overhead
power lines from where you were?
Mrs. Grech: Oh yeah, Oh yeah. You can see the overhead power line. It’s right there. You can see through
the few bushes. These are really ugly pictures. I don’t know if there’s any one in this room or any member of
the public that would like this in their backyard. These are really ugly structures.
Mr. Propes: I wouldn’t say they are in somebody’s backyard. We have attempted to site those on the
preliminary site plan well over 250’, well beyond that, from any nearby residence.
Mrs. Grech: I would suggest the people in this room…
Mr. Propes: It’s a significant distance away.
Mrs. Grech: I would suggest that the people in this room drive out to the fairgrounds. Walk 250’ back and see
if that’s a reasonable distance. And if they would like these structures as close to their own houses.
Mr. Propes: Is there vegetation around that structure at the fairground?
Mrs. Grech: Not much. Only on one side. You can see in the first picture there is vegetation…
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Mr. Propes: So, there was no requirement at that point in time? There is already existing vegetation and we
are committing to put any additional vegetation that we would need to put around the structure. Granted, I
know we can’t make the 60-75’ poles completely obscured by vegetation, but I think we can certainly do a
pretty good job of obscuring the actual fenced facility itself.
Mrs. Grech: So, if you look at the picture that we are looking at now. Even if you were to obscure the fence,
look at how much more is above the fence. Good luck in obscuring structures that are 20-30’ high within a
few years. And if you don’t mind me saying so, the right-of-way of any utility under the power line restricts the
planting of trees over 40’ and limits them. I don’t know how the two are compatible. I don’t see how you are
going to be able to provide, unless you have approved setbacks, and a very tall buffer zone and possibly
berms. I don’t know how you are going to screen that. So, anyhow, that’s my two cents worth for the substation
and switching station.
Mr. Betcher: I’ll add my two cents to that. It’s my understanding that Old Farms sits at an elevation quite above
this proposed site. Is that correct?
Audience: No. No.
Mr. Betcher: No? Ok.
Mrs. Grech: But to say that, when you are going down Old Farms Rd., the gravel road, and you look at the
properties to the right, going anti-clockwise, you are coming from the right-hand side. Your properties along
the fence are going to be to your right. But the ones to your left can equally see the switchyard because they
are slightly elevated. That’s what I was trying to explain. The visual damage is not going to be just for the
properties that are being indicated with the beige blocks on the site plan that we have. I encourage you all to
go ride and go see it. I did that especially yesterday to have an idea. And I took these pictures. And they are
not exactly very encouraging. I know that I would absolutely not want something like this in my backyard. Or
anywhere close to it. I don’t know how we are going to solve this, but it seems to me that the location of these
facilities is ill-chosen.
Mr. Propes: It’s really the need to tap into the power line. That’s why we would need to place those facilities
at that location. Yet do our best to try to set back as we have in the preliminary site plan from the homes.
Chairman Burner: Mr. Propes, I have a question of a different nature. How much grading are you anticipating
with this project?
Mr. Propes: That’s a great question. It’s not something that I can really answer definitively at this point in time.
I can say that the racking the panels sit upon can tolerate slopes up to 15%. We obviously like to minimize
the grading as much as possible. It costs money to move around dirt. We are trying to build a project as
efficiently as possible and move around the least amount of dirt around. I can’t give you a real definitive sense
of how much grading would be needed within the area. That’s something that would certainly come at the site
plan approval phase, which the county oversees. We submit 90% engineered drawings.
Chairman Burner: This leads into one of my concerns. Part of the reason as to why this is supposedly
beneficial is that after the life of the panels this is going to be returned to farmland. From experience, the
second you start stripping top soil off of that ground your productivity just tanks. That’s why I was curious as
to how much grading is anticipated. Engineering from one standpoint, but in terms of longevity for holding up
the end of the deal where one day this could be returned to farmland. Kind of where your thought process is
on that.
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Mr. Propes: The topsoil would be stockpiled on the site during construction and put back over to promote the
vegetative grasses that would be planted at the end of construction. We wouldn’t take the top soil away. We
would keep that on site and utilize it. In addition, during the life of the solar project while it’s in place 25+ years,
the soil is getting rest and regeneration from the intensive farming that it goes through each year where
nutrients are added, nutrients are extracted. All kinds of chemicals are used to achieve those balances. That’s
something that would be beneficial to the soil over that period of time while the solar facility is there.
Chairman Burner: I don’t know that I necessarily agree with that. That’s part of the natural life cycle of the soil
from an ecosystem standpoint. It’s the fact that you have different root masses growing. It allows for different
micro-organisms in order to break down the soil to provide a soil tilt. But that conversation can come a little
bit later. You said the panel height and everything. Are there going to be any drip strips installed under the
edge on the ground to mitigate any stormwater runoff from the panels or is it just when the rainwater runs off
is it just going to hit the ground? Is there going to be any other structure to prevent a micro-erosion underneath
the panels?
Mr. Propes: Just the grasses has really proven to be effective. You don’t get these harsh drip lines because
these panels are at different angles when it’s raining. Now, if you had a fixed panel where it was always in the
same position every time it rains you might get that micro-erosion like you’re mentioning, but because they
are at slightly different angles at any time during the day at a heavy rain event you tend to not get something
like that.
Chairman Burner: I’m not sure if you are the person to answer this or if Mr. Janney is the person to answer
this. I know in the health department comments that we received I believe it was tax map property 42-A-14B.
There was an issue with a septic system and a well I think on that property. It doesn’t look like the solar panels
go down to that vicinity, but is there any looking into the managing of that septic system? Is it going to be
abandoned? Is it going…what is this project going to do with that tax map just as the health department
required it? Or has a decision been made on it just yet?
Mr. Propes: I’m not familiar with the septic system in place. I can only say that we would not have any plans
to utilize a septic system for the project. That wouldn’t be needed. If we need to remove a septic system
because the health department needs it to be removed, we certainly would do that. I’m not sure if that answers
your question.
Chairman Burner: I think I’m making more of the point that it’s an issue that the health department brought
up. If it does move forward that that needed to be resolved to make sure that there is no issue tearing into a
septic system or just leaving a septic system there that’s not going to be utilized. One of the issues that was
raised by the health department that was in our notes.
Mr. Propes: Obviously, whatever the health department requires we would obviously abide by.
Mrs. Grech: In your previous response to the question, how much grading, you refer to the fact that the
equipment would tolerate slopes up to 15%. I believe that in our previous meeting you had agreed to provide
us with a site plan that gave an overlay or some indication of slope gradients. I don’t believe we have received
that.
Mr. Propes: Yes, that’s correct. I am remiss in providing that to you. I will get that to you. I apologize.
Mrs. Grech: It would be interesting to see which panel arrays are on slopes, let’s say, from 0-5%, 5-7%, 710%, 10-15%. Just to see so we have an idea which panel arrays are located where and what the slopes are.
Mr. Propes: I will definitely get that to you this week.
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Mrs. Grech: Thank you. I have some concerns about slopes up to 15% because the tilt of the panels. But I
think I addressed that last time. I have another question for you. What height are you proposing for the fence?
I think I saw 6 feet.
Mr. Propes: Yes, I do believe that’s right. It would be a 6-foot fence. I think we had also talked about it could
be woven wire if that’s acceptable to the county. Which I think has a little bit nicer aesthetic than a chain link
fence. It’s kind of an agricultural style fencing. Something you may be familiar with.
Mrs. Grech: I’m not sure. Maybe one of my colleagues…what we are looking at on the picture is a chain link
fence. What we are looking at on the picture behind us…that’s a chain link fence right? So, you are proposing
something different than a chain link fence?
Mr. Propes: We can do…I mean if the county requires chain link, we can obviously do chain link. A lot of
projects have chain link fences. What I’m proposing is that we could also do something called a woven wire
fence. Which is kind of a square mesh. Sometimes it’s done with metal poles, or sometimes it’s even pressure
treated wooden poles. You see it a lot in farm communities. It has a nicer aesthetic to it than a chain link
fence.
Mrs. Grech: Would that keep people out? Like a bunch of kids wanting to climb the fence and having fun in
the property. Would that provide security?
Mr. Propes: I would say if anybody absolutely wants to access the facility a chain link is probably just as
climbable as a woven wire fence.
Chairman Burner: What was the thought process behind choosing 6 feet?
Mr. Propes: It’s just a standard. A typical county requirement across the Commonwealth and other parts of
the country. Six feet is pretty standard. Sometimes municipalities require a foot of barbed wire at the top.
Sometimes they don’t.
Chairman Burner: Because a standard woven wire fence is 49 inches. Unless you go with a specialty woven
wire fence, which they certainly do make. It certainly will not keep anybody who wants to, all you have to do
is climb right at the post. I do agree with you. From a visual standpoint, a woven wire fence probably meshes
more with an agricultural community. I’m reluctant to say 49 inches is high enough if you want to keep people
out of the property.
Mr. Propes: Forty-nine inches would not be high enough. We would not go any less than six feet.
Chairman Burner: You can do that in a woven wire. They make them up to 10 feet. I’d say a standard
agricultural woven wire is probably not sufficiently tall enough.
Mr. Propes: I would agree with you sir.
Mrs. Grech: I remember having a conversation a couple years back with an industrial electrical engineer who
had explained to me that the fence surrounding a solar facility is considered part of the equipment and needs
to be grounded. So, it seems to me you have some requirements to fulfill that are beyond what we would
require at the county level. You may want to look into that.
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Mr. Propes: That’s true with respect to the utility substation. But to my knowledge I have not heard that related
to the overarching fence around the solar facility. I’ve actually built projects with woven wire fencing and
pressure treated wooden posts.
Mrs. Grech: Where would that be?
Mr. Propes: In Florida.
Mrs. Grech: What are your plans to alleviate concerns of the members of the public as to possible run off and
water contamination? There are several streams that are shown on the site plan. Do you have any plans to
monitor the water quality which would result from water runoff in case of storms, especially on the steep
slopes? To monitor what type of undesirable components may be in the water?
Mr. Propes: Could you elaborate on what you mean by undesirable components?
Mrs. Grech: Are you planning to test the water runoff, the water quality, in the streams that are present on the
site…there are several of them…to see if any water that’s being displaced by stormwater runoff? Are you
going to test the water to see if there’s any difference in what’s present in the water before and after the water
passes through the site?
Mr. Propes: There certainly will be stormwater management features that would have to be installed on the
site in accordance with the Department of Environmental Quality and any county requirements. Stormwater
management features would be required. In terms of water quality testing, I’m not familiar with any standard
that DEQ requires. I think we have offered some soil testing requirements as one of the proposed conditions.
If that’s something you would like to see, I guess we would be open to talking about what we’d actually be
measuring for in our stormwater. We’re open to having that conversation if there’s something we should be
sampling for in the stormwater.
Chairman Burner: Like Mrs. Grech said, there are certain streams that cross the property. What she’s trying
to refer to is that you know you can measure the quality of the water coming on to the property. I think we’re
looking to measure the quality of the water going off the property. So that any transformation between the two
points would be strictly responsible for the solar facility. Let’s say you have a solar panel burst and you have
heavy metals that go into the water source. That would be able to detect to say…hey that came from this
project or no they came from up stream. It would kind of be a win-win for both sides. Yea, you get the
opportunity to defend yourself, then again if an issue happens you have the responsibility to take care of it
because you’ve proven it. I think that’s what we’re looking for on water that passes through the property. Any
runoff that’s generated that’s not a standard navigable water…that run off needs to remain on the property.
But the streams that go through you can’t stop those waters from moving through the property, but you can
control what goes in to them.
Mr. Propes: I appreciate that clarification. Again, we would be open to having that conversation about what it
is we are testing for. Just to clarify, if a panel breaks there’s not going to be any immediate release of toxic
chemicals that pour out of the panels. In addition, the facility is monitored 24/7. We’re going to know if there
is a breakage or malfunction to a piece of equipment and have somebody go out and take a look at it. Then
perform the necessary maintenance. Based on what I know about solar facilities I’m not concerned about
contaminants entering the water stream. But if it’s a comfort that we are doing some testing we’d be happy to
include that as a condition.
Mrs. Grech: Please understand we are responsive to concerns of the public as to the quality of the water
supply in their wells. We are in a karst terrain. That’s like Swiss cheese. Ground water can seep into our water
table and we need to make sure we can ensure the water quality for people who have water that are supplied
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by wells. Which is 100% of the water in the county. We’re not on main line water from the towns. At least not
in the area where this project is.
Mr. Propes: Mrs. Grech, please know that we as a company would never put equipment on the land if we
thought there was some sort of hazardous materials that were coming off our project into the water system. I
think the other thing I’d point out, there’s active research around the country, around the world, of pairing solar
facilities with farming. The concept is called agro-voltaic. I personally had a conversation with somebody at
the National Renewable Energy Lab that’s involved in this work. He said to me that they test the water quality
constantly. There’s never been a contamination of the water or the growing vegetables underneath these
panels. We’re actually growing food from the runoff water that’s coming off these panels. I just share that to
point out how safe this technology is. I appreciate your point of view. I do.
Chairman Burner: Any other question, comments, or concerns for Mr. Janney or Mr. Propes?
Mrs. Grech: I think it’s a quarter ‘til 9. We still have other items on the agenda. I suggest we move on. Unless
anybody else has any questions. I will have questions when we get the overlays for the slopes. I’m going to
go back and do some more homework on the substations.
Chairman Burner: One thing I would like to bring up and we did hit on it when we first started, we were given
a list of conditions. We have on our own time reviewed that list of conditions. I would like to ask staff to give
us a recommendation on those conditions to give us a starting point so that we as a commission can discuss
those conditions. That’s just a food for thought to move forward. Let’s review those conditions in our framework
to see where we need to look at them and we’ll go from there.
Mr. Janney: Mr. Chairman, are you prepared to try put a time line for setting the public hearing at this point?
Because time is running against you on this issue.
Chairman Burner: I understand that but at this moment we have a long list of conditions to go for and that’s
not going to be decided in one night.
Mr. Janney: I thoroughly understand that, but you’ve got to start the process that you are trying to do right
now. I would suggest that you pick a date in the future for a public hearing and it gets reserved and then
you’ve got a target to move forward and a goal to get there. That kind of moves you on to having that public
hearing if you’ve got to be prepared for a March public hearing then you’ve got a date and that gets you there.
Chairman Burner: We will be prepared at the time, but tonight we are not setting the public hearing. We will
move forward with working through the conditions and bring up any other questions and any ideas to work
towards setting that public hearing.
Mr. Janney: Then I would request, respectfully, that if you need us to reappear that you give us timely notice
so that we have an opportunity to appear and that you propose your questions and issues as you come to
them so we can address them as we move forward.
Chairman Burner: Yes sir. Any other questions, comments or concerns on Cape Solar? Hearing none we will
move forward.
C. Review draft of Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance provided by the Berkley Group
Ms. Clatterbuck stated that a couple of weeks prior she delivered an updated draft ordinance that was provided
by the Berkley Group. It is dated November 3, 2021. Kelly Davis with the Berkley Group is available via phone
if they have any questions. Ms. Clatterbuck requested that a final decision be made by the Planning
Commission about what zoning districts they want and the sliding scale concept. Those two things shape the
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remaining content of the ordinance. Mrs. Grech stated the Berkley Group is not willing to offer assistance with
alternatives to the sliding scale. The Commission went back over with the two new Commissioners the basic
premise of the sliding scale and a potential second agricultural district. Chairman Burner stated they would
discuss the zoning districts at the next meeting and make a decision on that.
Open Citizen Comment Period
Ken Farkas stated he and the fellow citizens that were there were insulted by Mr. Janney and Cape Solar. The
site is 600 acres of prime farmland, not Harlem. The people have commented at every meeting because unlike
him, they are being placed at great risk without their consent. Second, stormwater cannot be kept on the property.
It is on karst topography.
Clyde Humphrey pointed out in none of the Cape Solar submissions have they defined their solar panel
configurations in sufficient detail to allow verification of the numbers they provide.
Beth Snider agreed that Mr. Janney was rude. Urban Grid keeps making promises. They won’t be around when
all these problems come up. A lot of localities are going back and redoing their solar ordinances and increasing
their setbacks for substations from residences. Mr. Propes didn’t seem to understand the difference between a
monitoring well and stormwater management. She asked if Urban Grid could put up a bond or guarantee that they
will be personally liable if any of the wells are contaminated, they would provide a water source.
Patricia Long stated she wishes we could go back and not even approve the first one. She appreciates all the
investigations and time spent on reviewing this application.
Jane Mangum stated that she is a new residence of the County. They live on Old Farm Rd. The panels will be in
their backyard. She intends on visiting everyone on Old Farms Rd. and showing them the site plan.
Chairman’s Report
Chairman Burner stated it’s a new year. There is a lot of work ahead of them. Set goals along the way and
achieve them.
Clerk’s Report
None
Adjourn
Chairman Burner requested a motion to adjourn the meeting. Mrs. Grech made a motion to adjourn. The motion
was seconded by Mr. Smelser. The meeting was adjourned at 9:30 p.m.

___________________________________
Jared Burner, Chairman
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We'd like to welcome you to Camp Mariposa. Enjoy your stay at this retreat
in the beautiful Appalachian Mountains next to Shenandoah National Park.
Settle in, kick back and if you have any questions at all please contact our
manager via call or text:
Brenna Landis
540-348-4626
Below are the rules of our campground, failure to follow these rules may result in
the cancellation of your reservation, with no refund.
1) Quiet hours are between 10pm and 8am and strictly enforced. This is a
peaceful community and we ask that you help maintain a respectful
environment.
2) No loud speakers at any time. While we want you to enjoy the site, we
don't allow any loud music that could disturb our fellow guests or
neighboring properties.
3) Please leave the glamp site better than you found it. Put all trash in the
provided trashcans. If you see trash on the ground, pick it up and throw it
away—we’re all in this together :) If you need your trash picked up because
it's full, please let us know and we will arrange for a staff member to help
you!
4) We kindly request that you check in before 10pm. If you have to check in
at a later time, please contact us ahead of time so we can make
arrangements.
5) Do not venture off of the roads and trails on our property. Camp
Mariposa exists on a beautiful 47 acres and we want you to be able to
explore, but for your safety please make sure to stay on areas that are
clearly marked.
6) We do not allow RVs or ATVs on the premises at any time.
7) We do not allow additional tents to be pitched on the property. All guests must stay in
the units they reserved.
8) Never, under any circumstance, leave a fire unattended. We will provide you
with the appropriate tools to put out your fire. If you need assistance putting out
an outdoor fire due to lack of materials/equipment, call us and someone from our
team will assist you. Lastly, no outdoor fires are to be lit when winds exceed
10mph.

County of Page, Virginia
Planning & Community Development
103 South Court St., Suite B
Luray, VA 22835

SPECIAL USE PERMIT
Applicant/Owner: Johnathan Martinez
Tax Map #: 82-A-9
Purpose: Campground
APPROVED __________ DENIED __________
By the Page County Board of Supervisors on _____________
1. This special use permit is transferable and will run with the land. This special use permit shall remain with
the property for a period of fifty (50) years.
2. This special use permit is limited to phase one. Phase one of the campground is limited to ten campsites.
The location of the campsites shall comply with the following:
a. Section 128-8 of the Page County Campground Ordinance which states: “The minimum
setback from property lines shall be 50 feet; a greenbelt shall be included within the setback
area.”
b. Section 128-5.C (3) of the Page County Campground Ordinance which states: “Each
campsite shall be a minimum of 1,600 square feet of space and shall not be less than 25
feet wide at its narrowest point.”
3. In addition to the special use permit conditions defined, the campground is required to comply with the
entirety of Chapter 128 (Campgrounds Ordinance) which is attached to this special use permit.
4. Compliance with VDOT regulations (see land use memorandum dated 10/18/2021 provided by VDOT) is
required prior to the issuance of zoning and/or building permits. This condition is subject to modification in
writing from VDOT.
5. Compliance with the VDH regulations (see memo dated 10/28/2021 provided by the VDH) is required prior
to the issuance of zoning and/or building permits. This condition is subject to modification in writing from the
VDH.
6. Compliance with the Building Code regulations (see comments dated 11/29/2021) is required prior to the
issuance of zoning/and or building permits. This condition is subject to modification in writing from the
Building Official.
7. The use of off-road vehicles is prohibited in within the campground. The business is allowed one
freestanding sign, not to exceed 24’ in height and 50 square feet in area. The sign may be permitted a
mounted light, only to be projected downward onto the sign. Applicant must obtain applicable permits for
placement of the sign.
Phone: (540) 743-6674

www.pagecounty.virginia.gov

Fax: (540) 743-1419

8. The business shall be in compliance with all county and state agency regulations.
9. At least two parking spaces for each campsite shall be required. Parking spaces shall be marked and
designated.
10. This special use permit may be revoked upon material non-compliance with the terms of the permit or upon
violation of any other relevant terms of the zoning ordinance of the county of Page, Virginia, However, prior
to the commencement of any action to revoke this permit, the County shall notify the permit holder in writing
of the material non-compliance or violation and the permit holder shall have thirty (30) days thereafter to
cure the material non-compliance or violation. The notice shall be deemed given when hand delivered to the
permit holders or when mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the permit holders.
11. Any material change of use or expansion of the campground will require an amended special use permit.
12. The zoning administrator or their designated representative may visit the site at any time to ensure
compliance with the special use permit conditions.
13. Fencing Requirements- Woven wire fencing (minimum height of 52 inches?) on three sides of the property
***Staff recommends PC discuss proposed language***
14. Buffer- Additional buffer requirements adjacent to existing dwellings and areas of potential growth. ***Staff
recommends PC discuss proposed language***
15. Trash- ***Staff recommends PC discuss proposed language***
I (we) the undersigned owner(s)/occupant(s) understand and agree to the foregoing conditions of this special use
permit. I further understand that this special use permit may be reviewed on a yearly basis or at any time, the county
determines necessary to ensure the compliance with and enforcement of all applicable conditions, codes, and
regulations.
_____________________________
Owner(s)/Occupant(s)

______________
Date

_____________________________
Board of Supervisors Chairman

______________
Date

___________________________
County Administrator

______________
Date
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Chapter 128
CAMPGROUNDS

GENERAL REFERENCES
Trailers — See Ch. 109.

Vehicles and traffic — See Ch. 118.

Abandoned vehicles — See Ch. 115.

Zoning — See Ch. 125.

§ 128-1. Purpose.
The purpose of this chapter shall be to provide rules, regulations and standards for
development of campgrounds in the County of Page, ensuring that the public health,
safety and general welfare are protected; that orderly growth and development together
with the conservation, protection and proper use of land shall be ensured; that proper
provisions for all public facilities shall be made; and that Page County government is
given appropriate control over the zoning and location of campgrounds in Page County.
§ 128-2. Adoption of statutory provisions.
All of the provisions and requirements of the laws of the State of Virginia contained in
Title 35.1 pertaining to campgrounds and all of the provisions of Virginia's Department
of Health Rules and Regulations Governing Campgrounds, known as 12 VAC 5-450-10
through 12 VAC 5-450-230, as amended, except those provisions and requirements
which, by their very nature, can have no application to or within the County of Page, are
hereby adopted and incorporated in this chapter by reference and made applicable within
the County. Such provisions and requirements are hereby adopted mutatis mutandis, and
made a part of this chapter as fully as if set forth at length herein, and it shall be unlawful
for any person within the County to violate or fail, neglect or refuse to comply with
any provision of Title 35.1 of the Code of Virginia, as amended, and the provisions
of Virginia's Department of Health Rules and Regulations Governing Campgrounds,
known as 12 VAC 5-450-10 through 12 VAC 5-450-230, as amended, which are adopted
by this section, provided that in no event shall the penalty imposed for the violation of
any provision or requirement hereby adopted exceed the penalty imposed for a similar
offense under the Code of Virginia. This incorporation is for the purpose of ensuring
uniformity between the Code of the County of Page and state laws.
§ 128-3. Definitions.
As used in this chapter, unless the context requires otherwise or it is otherwise provided,
the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:
ACCESSORY USES — Offices, recreational facilities, convenience stores, gift shops,
service buildings, restrooms, dumping stations, showers, laundry facilities, storage units
and other uses and structures customarily a part of the campground operation for the use
of occupants.
AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION — The organization, office or individual
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responsible for approving equipment, equipment installation, a permit or a procedure.
CABIN/CAMPING — A hard-sided shelter less than 400 square feet in area.
CAMPERS — Persons participating in camping.
CAMPGROUND — Includes, but is not limited to, a travel trailer camp, recreation
camp, family campground, camping resort, camping community, or any other area,
place, parcel, or tract of land, by whatever name called, on which three or more
campsites are occupied or intended for occupancy, or facilities are established or
maintained, wholly or in part, for the accommodation of camping units for periods
of overnight or longer, whether the use of the campsites and facilities is granted
gratuitously, or by rental fee, lease, or conditional sale, or by covenants, restrictions,
and easements. "Campground" does not include a summer camp, migrant labor camp,
or park for mobile homes as defined in § 35.1-16 and 32.1-203 of the Virginia Code,
as amended, or a construction camp, storage area for unoccupied camping units, or
property upon which the individual owner may choose to camp and not be prohibited
or encumbered by covenants, restrictions, and conditions from providing his sanitary
facilities within his property lines.
A.

PRIMITIVE SITE — A campsite where no utility hookups are provided.

B.

DEVELOPED SITE — A site accessible by vehicular traffic where Campsites
are substantially developed with one, or more, utility, e.g., sewer, water and/or
electricity.

CAMPING UNIT — A tent, tent trailer, travel trailer, camping trailer, pickup camper,
motor home, camping cabin, and any other device or vehicular type structure for use as
a temporary living quarter or shelter during periods of recreation, vacation, leisure time,
or travel.
CAMPSITE — A plot of ground within a campground used or intended for the
occupation by the camping unit or units under the control of a camper.
DENSITY — The number of campsites per unit of land on a tract or parcel.
GREENBELT — A strip of land, containing landscaping or other aesthetic siteobscuring features, intended to buffer potentially incompatible uses. Greenbelts may
include utilities and other underground facilities but not camping units, buildings or
recreation areas.
MINIMUM PARCEL SIZE — The minimum land area required to accommodate a
campground.
OCCUPANCY — The presence of overnight guest(s) in a camping unit for a site,
whether the use of the Campsites and facilities is granted gratuitously, or by rental fee.
OPERATOR — The owner of the campground or his/her designee.
OWNER — Person or entity holding title to the parcel on which the campground is
located.
RECREATION AREA — A specific area of the campground, either of land or an area
of water or a combination of land and water, which is designed and intended for the use
or enjoyment of guests of the campground.
RENT — Compensation or other consideration given for a prescribed right, use,
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possession or occupancy of a campsite.
RENTAL/ON-SITE — A camping unit placed within a campground which is available
for rental to guests.
RV'ERS — Individuals who use recreational vehicles for camping, those who stay for a
day, week, or even up to seven months (extended stay) as an alternative to other types of
lodging.
SERVICE BUILDING — A structure or portion thereof that is used to house sanitary
facilities, such as water closets or lavatories. It may include other facilities for the
convenience of the campground guests.
SITE — A plot of ground within a campground used or intended for the occupation by
the camping unit or units under the control of a camper.
TENT — A portable shelter, consisting of synthetic fabrics or natural skins stretched
over a flexed or rigid framework.
§ 128-4. Enforcement; zoning; site plan requirements.
A.

Enforcement. The Page County Zoning Administrator is the officer having
enforcement authority.

B.

Zoning. Campgrounds may be allowed in Woodland-Conservation and Agricultural
Districts by special use permit.

C.

Site Plan Requirements. In order to insure the provision of adequate, properly
designed sanitation facilities at campgrounds, any person planning construction,
major alteration or extensive addition to any campground shall, prior to the
initiation of any such construction, submit to the Page County Health Department,
complete plans, at a minimum scale of one inch to 50 feet, and statements which
show the following:
(1) The proposed method and location of sewage disposal system.
(2) The proposed sources and location of the water supply.
(3) The number, location and dimensions of all campsites.
(4) The number, description and location of proposed sanitary facilities such as
toilets, dump stations, sewer lines, etc.
(5) Name and address of applicant.
(6) Location, boundaries and dimension of the proposed project.
(7) The number, description and location of proposed motor vehicle parking
spaces.
(8) The description and location of all interior roads.
(9) The description and location of all buildings and recreational areas.
(10) The description of any landscaping plans.
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(11) Such other pertinent information as the Virginia Health Commissioner or the
Page County Health Department may deem necessary.
D.

Permit approval. Before any permit is issued for construction of, major alterations
to, or extensive addition to any campground, the plans and specifications shall first
be approved by the County Planning/Building/Zoning Office(s), Virginia
Department of Transportation (VDOT) and the Page County Health Department,
taking into account all of the provisions as set out herein, as well as such special
conditions as may be imposed by the Planning Commission, and provided further
that said plans and specifications are in accordance with state regulations governing
campgrounds, including, but not limited to Title 35.1 of the Virginia Code, as
amended, and the Virginia Department of Health's Rules and Regulations
Governing Campgrounds, 12 VAC 5-450-10 through 12 VAC 5-450-230, as
amended from time to time.

§ 128-5. Standards.
A.

Permitted camping units. Only tents, tent trailers, travel trailers, camping trailers,
pickup campers, motor homes, or camping cabins, as defined above, or any other
device or vehicular-type structure as may be developed, marketed and used by the
camping trade for use as temporary living quarters or shelter during periods of
recreation, vacation, leisure time, or travel shall be allowed.

B.

Permanent occupancy prohibited. No camping unit shalt be used as a permanent
place of abode, dwelling or business or for indefinite periods of time. Continuous
occupancy extending beyond seven months in any twelve-month period shall be
presumed to be permanent occupancy.

C.

Site requirement/density.
(1) The minimum parcel size shall be 10 contiguous acres.
(2) The average number of campsites per acre shall not exceed 20.
(3) Each campsite shall be a minimum of 1,600 square feet of space and shall not
be less than 25 feet wide at its narrowest point.
(4) A minimum of 20% of the entire tract of land shall be open area and/or
recreation area, of which no more than 50% can be a body of water. Campsites,
service buildings, roads, or greenbelt shall not be included as open and/or
recreation area.
(5) Exposed ground surfaces in all parts of a campground shall be paved or
covered with crushed stone or gravel or protected with a vegetative growth or
other natural growth that is capable of preventing soil erosion and eliminating
objectionable dust.
(6) Each campsite shall be identified by number and section. Camping units
within a campground shall be required to be located within the designated
campsites.

D.

Lighting. Any lighting that is provided on the campground will be directed
downwards, so as to not produce a glare on adjoining properties.
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E.

Fires. Any outdoor fires on the campground shall be enclosed by a fire ring. All fire
rings shall be enclosed by a durable, nonflammable material at least eight inches in
height. Firewood must originate in Page County and remain in Page County.

F.

Perimeter fencing. Where perimeter fencing is not provided, the campground shall
be blazed every 25 feet, and a sign shall be posted every 50 feet which states: "NO
CAMPERS BEYOND THIS POINT," in a minimum size of two-inch letters. The
signs shall be posted on the property line of the campground.

G.

Special use permit requirements. The special use permit shall also consider the
following on a site-by-site basis:
(1) Quiet hours (to include use of generators).
(2) Fireworks.
(3) Use of off-road vehicles.
(4) Additional buffer requirements adjacent to existing dwellings and areas of
potential growth.
(5) Impact of traffic on nearby residences, and mitigation thereof.

§ 128-6. Health and sanitation requirements.
A.

Requirements. All health and sanitation requirements shall be in accordance with
the Virginia Department of Health Rules and Regulations Governing Campgrounds
(12 VAC 5-450 et al).

B.

Service building. Campgrounds must have a service building constructed of
cleanable, nonabsorbent materials, maintained in good repair and in a clean and
sanitary condition and meeting the requirements of the Virginia Department of
Health Rules and Regulations Governing Campgrounds (12 VAC 5-450 et al.). All
service buildings shall also conform to all existing Virginia and Page County
Building Codes.

§ 128-7. Design of access to campground.
A.

Location and access.
(1) Direct access to public street. Except as stated below, no campground shall be
located except with direct access to a public street maintained by VDOT with
appropriate frontage thereon to permit appropriate design of entrances and
exits. No entrance or exit from a campground shall be permitted through a
residential zone.
(2) Private road. If the proposed campground parcel does not adjoin a public
street, a fifty-foot deeded right-of-way, with appropriate frontage at the public
street to permit appropriate design of entrances and exits, must be obtained to
provide access to the parcel. Road condition, maintenance responsibilities, and
the rights of the servient tenants shall be considered in the special use permit.

B.

Entrances and exits. Entrances and exits to campgrounds shall be designed for safe
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and convenient movement of traffic into and out of the campground and shall be
designed to minimize marginal friction with free movement of traffic on adjacent
streets. All traffic into or out of the campground shall be through such entrances
and exits. Entrances shall be constructed utilizing appropriate radii and grades
to accommodate movement of all vehicles using/entering the campground. All
entrances onto public roads shall meet VDOT requirements.
C.

Road requirements. Interior roads and access to individual sites shall consist at a
minimum of an all-weather gravel surface. All interior roads shall be a minimum
width of 10 feet for one-way traffic and 20 feet for two-way traffic. No campsite
shall have direct access to a public street.

§ 128-8. Yards and setbacks.
The minimum setback from property lines shall be 50 feet; a greenbelt shall be included
within the setback area.
§ 128-9. On-site operator.
If an on-site operator is not provided, a point of contact for the campground shall be
designated and emergency contact information provided and posted conspicuously at the
campground.
§ 128-10. Violations and penalties.
Any person, firm or corporation, whether as principal, agent, employee or otherwise,
violating, causing or permitting the violation of any of the provisions of this chapter shall
be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, may be fined up to $2,500
or imprisoned for up to 12 months, or both. Such person, firm or corporation shall be
deemed to be guilty of a separate offense for each and every day during which any
portion of any violation of this chapter is committed, continued or permitted by such
persons, firm or corporation and shall be punishable as herein provided.
§ 128-11. Conflicts.
If any provision of this chapter conflicts with any other provision of the Zoning
Ordinance of the County of Page, Virginia, the more stringent provision shall apply.
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County of Page, Virginia
Planning & Community Development
103 South Court St., Suite B
Luray, VA 22835

TO:

Page County Planning Commission

FROM:

Tracy Clatterbuck, Zoning Administrator

SUBJECT:

Roger Aaron Bogner- Special Use Permit (Introduction)

DATE:

February 1, 2022

SUMMARY:
Special use permit (SUP) to operate a home occupation in an accessory building
BACKGROUND:
Roger Aaron Bogner has filed an application for a SUP to operate a home occupation in an
accessory building located at 2535 Bixler’s Ferry Road, Luray, and further identified by tax map
number 31-A-29. This property contains 3.28 acres and is currently zoned as Agriculture (A-1).
The home occupation will be operated out of an existing 30x30 detached accessory building. The
proposed business will be a stained-glass studio (retail sales). The applicant initially plans to open
to the public 2-3 days per week with the possibility of additional days and hours being added in
the future.
Section 125-10 C(3) of the Page County Zoning Ordinance, states that home occupations
pursuant to § 125-15 (Home Occupation Regulations) are a permitted accessory use when located
on the same lot with the permitted principal use. However, § 125-15 B states that home
occupations in accessory buildings are only permitted by SUP.
Staff has attached a copy of § 125-15 (Home Occupation Regulations) of the Page County Zoning
Ordinance for requirements described in code that the applicant must comply with, in addition to
any conditions that are attached to the SUP.
OTHER AGENCY COMMENTS:
Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT) – Per James Craun with VDOT, this property is
served by an existing private entrance. This entrance meets VDOT minimum requirements. The
proposed use should not have any adverse effect to the VDOT right-of-way.
Health Department- Per Herbert Cormier with the Health Department, their office has no
objections to the proposed stained-glass studio.
Building Official- Per James Campbell, Page County Building Official, he has no issues at this
time with the proposed use.
PAGE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:
This property falls within the “Agricultural Protection Tier” and into the designation of
“Farmland of Statewide Importance”. Due to the low impact, the proposed business would not
change the character of the property/area.
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Chapter 3, Goal 6, Section 6.2 states, “Encourage economic growth that is compatible with the
County’s rural character while generating a positive net cash flow for the county.”
Chapter 3, Goal 6, Section 6.12 states, “Enhance the County’s tourism and retail base.”
FISCAL IMPACT:
The applicant will be required to maintain a Page County business license which will result in tax
revenue for the county.
MOTION(S):
I move that the Page County Planning Commission hold a public hearing on this special use
permit application at the March 8, 2022 Regular Meeting, and direct staff to provide
adequate notice of such hearing in accordance with the Code of Virginia § 15.2-2204.
OR
I move an alternative motion.
ATTACHMENTS:
• SUP application
• SUP draft conditions
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County of Page, Virginia
Planning & Community Development
103 South Court St., Suite B
Luray, VA 22835

SPECIAL USE PERMIT
Applicant: Roger Aaron Bogner
Tax Map #: 31-A-29
Purpose: Home Occupation in an Accessory Building
(Stained glass studio- retail sales shop)
APPROVED __________ DENIED __________
By the Page County Board of Supervisors on _____________.
1. This special use permit is transferable, it will meet the requirements in and have privileges provided
for in the Page County Zoning Ordinance, and any ordinance amendments for the period set forth
within the parameters in this special use permit. The special use permit shall remain with the
property for a period of fifty (50) years.
2. Roger Aaron Bogner, or its successor and/or assigns, shall be in compliance with all county
ordinances, the Uniform Statewide Building Code, and all state and federal agency regulations.
3. The business shall maintain a valid Page County business license.
4. This special use permit for a home occupation is for use of the existing detached accessory
building. Any future square footage expansions of the detached accessory building (for the
proposed business) must be in compliance with § 125-15.B.(1) of the Page County Zoning
Ordinance and any other applicable codes and ordinances.
5. Any lighting that is provided on the property will be directed downwards, so as not to produce a
glare onto adjacent properties or rights-of-way.
6. This special use permit may be revoked upon material noncompliance with the terms of the permit,
or upon violation of any other relevant terms of the zoning ordinance or any other ordinances of the
County of Page, Virginia. However, prior to the commencement of any action to revoke this permit,
the county shall notify the permit holder in writing of the material in noncompliance or violation, and
the permit holder shall have thirty (30) days thereafter to cure the material non-compliance or
violation. The notice shall be deemed given when hand delivered to the permit holder or when
mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the permit holder.
7. Any change of use or expansion of services not included in this special use permit will require an
additional, new, or modified special use permit as required by the Page County Zoning Ordinance
at that time.
8. The Zoning Administrator or their designated representative may visit the site at any time to ensure
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www.pagecounty.virginia.gov

Fax: (540) 743-1419

compliance with the special use permit.
I (we) the undersigned owner(s)/occupant(s) understand and agree to the foregoing conditions of this
special use permit. I further understand that this special use permit may be reviewed on a yearly basis or at
any time, the county determines necessary to ensure the compliance with and enforcement of all applicable
conditions, codes, and regulations.
_____________________________
Owner(s)/Occupant(s)/Applicant(s)

______________
Date

_____________________________
Board of Supervisors Chairman

______________
Date

_____________________________
County Administrator

______________
Date
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